Florida International University FIU Digital Commons

FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations

University Graduate School

11-5-2018

Thin Film Based Biosensors for Point of Care Diagnosis of Cortisol

Syed Khalid Pasha Florida International University, spash001@fiu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Biomedical Commons</u>, <u>Electrical and Electronics Commons</u>, <u>Electronic Devices and</u> <u>Semiconductor Manufacturing Commons</u>, and the <u>Nanotechnology Fabrication Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Pasha, Syed Khalid, "Thin Film Based Biosensors for Point of Care Diagnosis of Cortisol" (2018). *FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 3892. https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd/3892

This work is brought to you for free and open access by the University Graduate School at FIU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of FIU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact dcc@fu.edu.

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

Miami, Florida

THIN FILM BASED BIOSENSORS FOR POINT OF CARE DIAGNOSIS OF CORTISOL

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of

The requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING

by

Syed Khalid Pasha

2018

To: Dean John L. Volakis College of Engineering and Computing

This dissertation, written by Syed Khalid Pasha, and entitled Thin Film Based Biosensors for Point of Care Diagnosis of Cortisol, having been approved in respect to style and intellectual content, is referred to you for judgment.

We have read this dissertation and recommend that it be approved.

Ajeet Kaushik
Benjamin Boesl
Denjanini Doesi
Bruce McCo
Nezih Pala
Ou Bai
Shekhar Bhansali, Major Professor

Date of Defense: November 5, 2018

The dissertation of Syed Khalid Pasha is approved.

Dean John L. Volakis College of Engineering and Computing

Andrés G. Gil Vice President for Research and Economic Development and Dean of the University Graduate School

Florida International University, 2018

© Copyright 2017 by Syed Khalid Pasha

All rights reserved.

DEDICATION

I want to dedicate this work to my family who stood by me through all times. I also dedicate this work to all my friends and colleagues who believed in me.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am indebted to Professor Shekhar Bhansali for providing an opportunity to undertake this study and his guidance during this journey. I want to thank my committee members, Dr. Nezih Pala, Dr. Bruce McCord, Dr. Ajeet Kaushik, Dr. Ou Bai, and Dr. Benjamin Boesl for their comments and valuable inputs. This work was supported by the National Science Foundation (NSF) ASSIST Nanosystems ERC (EEC-1160483). The financial support by University graduate school of Florida International University in the form of Dissertation Year Fellowship was invaluable. I would also like to acknowledge the staff at AMERI, FIU for letting me use the research facilities.

It would not have been possible withought the sacrifices made by my father Dr. Syed Asad Pasha and my mother Nasreen Akhter who supported me through-out and whose words of encouragement kept me going on. I am humbled by the steadfastness of my siblings Syed Asim Pasha and Nausheen Fatima, and my wife Shilfa Liyakathali. Their support and encouragements kept me going during the most critical phase of my life. I am thankful to my peers for all the support in the form of Ideas, encouragements, and food galore. My sincere thanks go to my friends and colleagues whose support was invaluable - Dr. Pandiaraj Manickam, Dr. Aparajita Singh, Dr. Subramaniam Krishnan, Dr. Abhay Vasudev, Dr. Eric Huey, Dr. Mubarak Mujawar, Dr. Chinmayee Bhedi and my colleagues Krystine Pimentel, Kevin Luongo, Michelle Pierre, Dr. Mark Stone, Apurva Sonwane, Pulak Bhushan thank you all for the discussion, advice and food sessions. Special mention here for my friends Dr. Priyanka Alluri, Vikram, Aariv, Dr. Rahul Jayant, Anjali, Raavya, Dr. Thiruselvam Viswanathan, Dr. and Mrs Manohar Radhakrishnan, Mukesh Ramalingam, and Praveen K Sundaram and several others that I have not been able to mention here. Without them, it was hard to maintain a good work-life balance. I would apologize to other friends and acquaintances who I have not been able to mention here, but whose wishes and support was always there.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

THIN FILM BASED BIOSENSORS FOR POINT OF CARE DIAGNOSIS OF CORTISOL

by

Syed Khalid Pasha

Florida International University, 2018

Miami, Florida

Professor Shekhar Bhansali, Major Professor

In this research, the design and development strategies for thin film-based biosensors are explored to achieve rapid, sensitive, selective, and label-free detection of cortisol in the physiological range $[0.05\mu g/dL(saliva)$ to $25\mu g/dL(blood)]$. Cortisol is a steroid hormone which is related to the physiological stress. Increased cortisol levels have been associated with stress-related diseases, including chronic fatigue syndrome, irritable bowel syndrome and post-traumatic stress disorder. Therefore, accurate measurement of cortisol in saliva, serum, plasma, urine, sweat, and hair, is gaining increasing clinical significance to predict multiple physical and mental diseases.

Thin film based electrochemical immunosensors were fabricated using a selfassembled monolayer (SAM) functionalized by specific antibodies to detect cortisol in the presence of a redox probe. The fabricated electrochemical cortisol immunosensors were able to detect cortisol in human saliva samples at 10 pM level sensitivities. The results of the sensor were validated using the standard Enzyme Linked Immuno Sorbent Assay (ELISA) technique. To improve the signal amplification and label-free cortisol detection, copper nanoparticles were on the screen-printed carbon electrodes (SPCE) for the fabrication of electrochemical cortisol immunosensor. This SPCE-based sensor showed a sensitivity of 4.21μ A/M and limit of detection 6.6nM.

However, both SAM and SPCE based immunosensors exhibited a shortcoming of thermal stability due to the biological nature of antibodies at room temperature. To overcome this challenge, an antibody-free sensing platform based on molecular imprinted polymer (MIP) was developed. The design of this cortisol sensor depends on the selection of an appropriate polymer-base, wherein the sensing is dependent on the cortisol molecule's adsorption on the polymer substrate. A polypyrrole, a conducting polymer, was selected to fabricate MIP using electrochemical polymerization of pyrrole. The MIP based sensor detected cortisol in the physiological range at room temperature. The performance of this sensor was tested on saliva samples and the results were validated by the conventional ELISA technique. This MIP based cortisol sensor is cost-effective, easy to fabricate, temperature stable, and reusable.

Aiming to perform cortisol sensing at point-of-care (POC), an Extended Gate Field Effect Transistor (EGFET) was integrated with a developed MIP cortisol sensor. The as developed MIP-EGFET sensor was used to detect the cortisol concentration in the range of 10 pM to 100 nM. Some of the salient features of the developed sensor are its ability to provide a direct readout and a simpler electronic system. These attributes enable the POC device development of the reduced form factor.

A sensing strategy consisting of integrating MIP cortisol sensor with an extended gate field effect transistor (EGFET) configuration was demonstrated to perform cortisol sensing at point-of-care (POC). The MIP-EGFET configuration protects the active device from the liquid environment and enables the relatively simple, label-free, portable and direct measurement system for cortisol sensing.

viii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHA	PTER	PAGE
СНА	PTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1 1		
1.1	Motivation	1
1.2		3
	1.2.1 Specific Aim 1: Electrochemical immunosensors on a gold	
	thin film based inter Digitated Electrodes (IDEs) and their	2
	validation against ELISA using Human saliva samples	3
	1.2.2Specific Aim 2: Nano enabled signal amplification in SAM	2
	based electrochemical cortisol Immunosensors.	3
	1.2.3 Specific Aim 3: Biomimetic sensors for label-free,	4
	temperature stable and repeatable measurements of cortisol	4
	1.2.4Specific Aim 4: Integration of EGFET with MIP based	
	substrate for Sensing Cortisol- A direct approach	4
1.3	Dissertation Organization	5
CHA	PTER 2: BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1	Biosensing	6
2.2	Why Cortisol?	8
	2.2.1Secretion of Cortisol.	11
	2.2.2Different methods of Cortisol detection	
	2.2.3Optical/radiological immunosensing	
2.3	Electrochemical Immunosensors.	20
	2.3.1Cvclic Voltammetry	21
2.4	Limitations of Electrochemical Immunosensors	
2.5	Label-free Detection	24
2.6	Reusable Sensors- MIPs	
2.7	The Field Effect Transistor	
	2.7.1ISFET as a biosensor	
	2.7.2Extended Gate FET	
2.8	Conclusion	
CHA SAL	APTER 3: ELECTROCHEMICAL IMMUNOSENSING OF IVARY CORTISOL	
31	Abstract	37
3.1	Introduction	32
3.2	Materials and Methods	34
5.5	3 3 1 Saliva sample Collection	3/
	3.3.2 Immunosensor Fabrication	
3 /	Results and Discussions	
5.4	3 4 1 Flectrochemical Characterization	
	3.4.2 Fleetrochemical Response Studies of Cortisol	20
	3.4.3 Electrochemical Immunosensing of Saliya Corticol	
	3.4 4 Detection of Salivary Corticol using ELISA	
35	Conclusions	. 45
5.5		

CHAPTER 4: NANO ENABLED SIGNAL AMPLIFICATION	
IN SAM BASED ELECTROCHEMICAL CORTISOL	16
IMMUNOSENSORS	40
4.1 Abstract	46
4.2 Introduction	
4.3 Experimental	
4.3.1 Materials and methods	
4.3.2 Measurement and apparatus	
4.3.3 Electro-synthesis of copper nanostructures	
4.3.4Biosensor fabrication and enzyme immobilization	
4.4 Results and discussion	
4.5 Conclusion	
CHADTED 5. DIO MIMETIC SENSOD FOD LADEL EDEE	
DETECTION OF CORTISOL USING MOLECULARLY	
IMPRINTED POLYMERS APPROACH	56
5.1 Abstract	
5.2 Introduction	
5.3 Experimental	
5.2 Dreportion of MID and non-imprinted polymor (NID)	
modified electrodes	50
5.4 Cortisol sensing using MIP	
5.5 Results and Discussion	60
5.5 1 Fabrication of cortisol MIP and NIP electrodes	60
5.5.2Electrochemical characterization of cortisol specific MIP	
5.5.3Surface morphological characterization of cortisol MIP	
electrodes	64
5.5.4Optimization of experimental parameters	66
5.5.5Effect of concentration of pyrrole monomer.	67
5.5.6Effect of number of electropolymerization cycles and rate	69
5.5.7Optimization of the extraction cycle	70
5.5.8Effect of binding time and scan rate	71
5.5.9Effect of pH	72
5.5.10Calibration curve of the sensor	72
5.5.11Selectivity, reproducibility, and repeatability	74
5.5.12Analytical applications	77
5.6 Conclusion	77

CHA	PTER 6: INTEGRATION OF MIP WITH EGFET FOR	
DIRI	ECT SENSING OF CORTISOL	79
6.1	Abstract	79
6.2	Introduction	79
6.3	EGFET	
6.4	Materials and methods	
6.5	Fabrication of EGFET sensor	
6.6	Results and Discussions	84
	6.6.1Study of pH response of the sensor	85
	6.6.2Drain current response of the sensor with respect to	
	different cortisol concentrations	
6.7	Conclusions	88
CHA	PTER 7: SUMMARY AND FUTURE WORK	89
7.1	Summary	
7.2	Future work	91
REF	ERENCES	92
VITA	A	103

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE PAG	Έ
Table 1: Cortisol Values as measured in saliva samples using the developed immunosensor4	42
Table 2: Cortisol Values measured in saliva samples using Cortisol ELISA kit4	42
Table 3: Reproducibility experiments of the MIP-PPy-SPCE sensor	75
Table 4: Repeatability experiments of the cortisol MIP-PPy-SPCE sensor	75
Table 5: Comparison of saliva cortisol estimated using ELISA and cortisol MIP sensor. 7	77
Table 6: Comparison of Cortisol sensors fabricated during this research) 0

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE PAGE
Figure 1: Chemical structure of cortisol and typical diurnal variation of cortisol levels over a 24-hour cycle [21,22]
Figure 2: Stress cycle and its effect on human nervous system
Figure 3: Cortisol secretion regulated by the HPA axis and various bio-fluids used for cortisol estimation
Figure 4: Left to right- Cross-section of micropore generated through laser ablation; Four pores relative to the size of a penny; Handheld laser source used to create micro-pores [51]
Figure 5: Schematic of strategies used for electrochemical immunosensing23
Figure 6: Schematic for fabrication of cortisol MIP biosensor on SPCE surface26
Figure 7: A typical top gated Si thin film transistor27
Figure 8: Different configurations of a TFT [1]28
Figure 9: CV studies of IDEs (a) DTSP-SAM modified IDEs (b), Anti-Cab immobilized DTSP-SAM/IDEs electrode (c), and EA immobilized Anti-Cab/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunoelectrode (d) using 5 μ L PBS (pH 7.4) containing 5 mM [Fe(CV)6]3-/4- at 50 mV/s
Figure 10: Electrochemical response of EA/Anti-C _{ab} /DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunoelectrode after addition of standard cortisol solution
Figure 11: Calibration curve plotted between the magnitudes of current response obtained and logarithm of cortisol concentration (10 pg/mL to 100 ng/mL)
Figure 12: CV studies of EA/Anti-Cab/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immuno-electrode with respects to interferents such as PSA (100 pg/mL), NSE (100pg/mL), EGFR (100pg/mL) and BSA+Cortisol (100 pg/mL) with respect to cortisol (100 pg/mL)41

Figure 13: Comparison of cortisol concentration measured by ELISA and
Electrochemical measurement on saliva samples from Specimen A & B at
specific time intervals over three days
Figure 14: CV of copper nanoparticles being overoxidized for three cycles51
Figure 15: SEM image of the copper Oxide Nanoparticle deposited SPCE. The
Particle size ranges from150nm
Tarticle size ranges from ~150min
Figure 16: XRD image of Copper/ Copper oxide nanoparticles on the SPCE52
Figure 1/: Concentration curve of the Cortisol immunosensor showing linear
concentration from 10 M to 10 nM samples of cortisol54
Figure 18: Different concentration of cortisol dispersed on the immunosensor and
their oxidation response current 54
inch oxidation response current
Figure 19: CV scans taken during the electropolymerization of pyrrole in the
absence (dotted lines) and in the presence (solid lines) of 10 mM cortisol onto the
SPCE. Scan rate: 50 mV/s61
Figure 20: Recorded voltammograms during the elution of cortisol from the PPy
matrix at 0.1 M PBS; scan rate of 50 mV/s
Eigure 21: CV scene of 5 mM $K4$ [Ea(CN)61/ $K2$ [Ea(CN)61 solution at (a) here
Figure 21. CV scales of 5 million $K4[Fe(CN)0]/K5[Fe(CN)0]$ solution at (a) date
SPCE, (b) PPy-SPCE, (c) Cortisol-PPy-SPCE and (d) MIP-PPy-SPCE; scan rate
of 50 mVs-1; (Inset: Enlarged version of curve d)64
Figure 22: SEM images of (A) PPv-SPCE. (B) Cortisol-PPv-SPCE. (C) MIP-
PPv-SPCE and (D) NIP-PPv-SPCE 65
11 y-51 CE, and (D) 101 -11 y-51 CE
Figure 23: Polymer grain size distributions observed for (A) PPy-SPCE, (B)
Cortisol-PPy-SPCE, (C) MIP-PPy-SPCE, and (d) NIP-PPy-SPCE
Figure 24: Effect of the monomer concentration on the response of the sensor to
cortisol
Figure 25: Effect of the different cycles of the electro polymerization of MIP 67
i gure 25. Effect of the uniform cycles of the effectio polymenzation of Will
Figure 26: Effect of electrochemical extraction cycle on the current response

Figure 27: concentration Curve after testing the Elute using ELISA
Figure 28: CV studies of the cortisol MIP sensor as a function of scan rate (50-150 mV/s), inset: magnitude of current response vs. scan rate70
Figure 29: Effect of incubation time on current response of the cortisol MIP71
Figure 30: The change in peak current values observed at cortisol MIP (blue) and NIP (red) electrode in the presence of cortisol and other interferents individually each at 100 nM
Figure 31: Electrochemical response studies of MIP-PPy-SPCE as a function of cortisol concentration (1 pM to10 uM) using five mM $K4[\text{Ee}(CN)6]/K3[\text{Ee}(CN)6]$ solution inset: calibration curve between the
magnitude of response current and logarithm of cortisol concentration
Figure 32: Molecular structure of cortisol and its structural analogs prednisolone, progesterone and lactate
Figure 33: Scheme of the EGFET - MIP based sensing system
Figure 34: current response of the EGFET after the addition of PBS at different pH Values
Figure 35: Output characteristics of the EGFET after adding different cortisol concentrations at a constant gate voltage of 5V
Figure 36: Different cortisol concentration at a lower gate voltage(1V). The reduction in drain current with increasing cortisol can be hypothesized due to cortisol molecules occupying empty sites in the MIP matrix and reducing electron transport in the polymer matrix. The reduced gate current, causes a reduction in the accumulated charges at the actual gate. Thus, causing a decrease in source drain current due to the reduced gate voltage
Figure 37: The concentration curve of the EGFET device from 1 pM to 100 nM cortisol concentration vs. the current measured at 2 Volts Vd and 1Volt Vgs
Figure 38: Vgs-Id curve of the EGFET-MIP device at different cortisol concentrations. The drain voltage was kept as 1V

LIST OF ACRONYMS

Ag/AgOx: Silver/SilverOxide

- CdSe: Cadmium Selenide
- DNA : DeOxyribo Nucleic Acid
- DTSP : Dithiobis (succinimidyl propionate)
- EA : Ethanolamine
- EC : Electrochemical
- EIS : Electrochemical Impedance Spectroscopy
- ELISA: Enzyme Linked Immuno Sorption Assay
- FET : Field Effect Transistor
- ISFET : ion Sensitive Field Effect Transistor
- JFET: junction Field Effect Transistor
- MIP: Molecular Imprinted Polymers
- MOSFET : Metal Oxide Field Effect Transistor
- *p*NPP : p-nitrophenyl phosphate
- POC: Point of Care
- PTSD: Post Traumatic Stress Disorder
- QCM: Quartz Crystall Microbalance

RIA: Radio Immuno Assay

SPR: Surface Plasmon Resonance

TFT : Thin Film Transistor

VLSI: Very Large Scale Integrated Circuits

Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Motivation

Everyday experiences, events and lifestyle have been known to cause psychological stress, leading to adverse health outcomes. Although the human body reacts to stress in different ways, a typical response is the release of hormones and neurotransmitters. Prolonged exposure to stress causes the activation of signaling pathways from the brain that leads to the release of cortisol from the adrenal cortex. Various signaling pathways are affected by psychological stress. Cortisol "a steroid hormone" has been widely used for estimation of stress and exposure to chemicals. Cortisol secretion levels have been correlated to stress levels in patients suffering from stress disorders such as Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), Cushing's syndrome, insomnia and burnout. Cortisol has also been used as a marker for determining the effect of exposure to external chemicals, such as the effects of organophosphates on the central nervous system, which alter the endocrine system, leading to an imbalance in cortisol secretion. The secretion of cortisol in individuals depends on the circadian rhythm and the environment. Hence its variations during the day at Point of Care (POC) are essential for personalized diagnosis and treatment. The detection of cortisol is based on immunoassays like chromatography, Enzyme Linked Immuno Sorbent Assay (ELISA) and Radioactive Immune Assay (RIA). These systems are bulky, expensive, require labels to operate and do not provide quick results. In contrast, Electrochemical (EC)/electrical (FET, chemiresistive, etc.) sensors demonstrate better sensing performance, can be made label-free, micro-fabricated, can provide faster results and are suitable for miniaturization. Due to their advantages

over optical, spectroscopic and mechanical sensors, electrochemical/electrical sensors were extensively explored for application towards POC systems [2-8].

Electrochemical cortisol sensing platforms reported in this research have the potential to be integrated into a POC system for online continuous monitoring of cortisol as a function of one's environment.

POC sensing systems consist of biosensors and bio-analytical devices. These systems are crucial for detection of a targeted analyte outside controlled environments of diagnostic labs and hospitals. These devices have a major impact on the applications of personal care, health, food, and environmental monitoring. An ideal POC biosensor device allows real-time, rapid, label-free, and multiplexed detection with high selectivity and sensitivity [8].

However, there are several challenges in implementing POC sensors. The requirement of redox media for electrochemical sensing adds to design complication for POC devices. The lack of robustness due to the temperature sensitivity of detection molecules (antibodies, enzymes) pose logistical challenges involving increased costs associated with storage at temperatures below zero. The complexity of the electronic system associated with these devices also prevents them from being miniaturized for POC application. To address the above challenges in thin film-based detection of cortisol, this research was performed with the following specific aims in mind.

1.2.1 Specific Aim 1: Electrochemical immunosensors on a gold thin film based Inter Digitated Electrodes (IDEs) and their validation against ELISA using Human saliva samples

The first activity to be undertaken in this research was the fabrication of electrochemical immunosensors on Au thin film-based IDEs. The Au surface was functionalized using SAM of DTSP molecules. Cortisol specific Antibodies were then immobilized on this functionalized surface, and non-binding sites blocked using Ethanolamine (EA). These sensors were calibrated and used for detection of cortisol in human saliva samples. The same samples were tested for cortisol using the standard ELISA process. The results obtained using both procedures were compared to validate the electrochemical immunosensing protocol.

1.2.2 Specific Aim 2: Nano enabled signal amplification in SAM based electrochemical cortisol Immunosensors.

Electrochemical sensors have a limitation where a redox label is required for sensing. In order to address the issue of label-free sensing, SPCE were modified electrochemically with Cu/CuO nanoparticles. The nano-modified SPCE were characterized by SEM, XRD and by CV. These nano-enabled SPCE were then used to fabricate SAM based Immunosensors using cortisol specific antibodies. The nanoenabled immunosensors were then used to detect the different concentration of cortisol in a test sample.

1.2.3 Specific Aim 3: Biomimetic sensors for label-free, temperature stable and repeatable measurements of cortisol

MIPs were explored to address the challenges associated with previously fabricated immunosensors (temperature stability, label-free sensing, repeatability and direct output of sensing data). MIP thin film were formed on an SPCE surface using electro-polymerization of pyrrole. The substrates were then optimized and characterized.

The MIP modified electrodes were then be used for electrochemical sensing and demonstrate cortisol detection. The fabricated sensors overcame some of the challenges associated with the ECIS described above. These sensors do not use expensive antibodies. Hence, the fabrication costs associated with them are meager. Repeatable sensing of cortisol was also demonstrated with the same MIP based electrode to allow for potential wearable applications.

1.2.4 Specific Aim 4: Integration of EGFET with MIP based substrate for Sensing Cortisol- A direct approach.

The electrochemical sensors have limitations with regards to label-free sensing and providing a direct readout of the sensing results. To address these limitations, a much simpler approach to sensing was explored. The MIP based electrodes were integrated with a FET to give an EGFET configuration. The EGFET-MIP sensors thus fabricated allowed label-free detection of cortisol and provided direct readout by modulating drain current as a function of cortisol concentration. This approach also allows for less complexity regarding auxiliary instrumentation which is required for miniaturized devices.

1.3 Dissertation Organization

In this Dissertation, we report the development of biosensors for the detection of cortisol which has potential application towards the point of care use. In Chapter 1, the motivation for this research and specific aims are discussed. In Chapter 2, cortisol and its importance in the body are presented. Also discussed are the state of the art techniques available for the detection of cortisol. In Chapter 3, the fabrication and characterization of electrochemical immunosensors based on the gold thin film is presented. The results related to the validation of these sensors against standard ELISA technique were also discussed in this chapter. Chapter 4 reports the development of a nano-modified electrochemical immunosensor for achieving labelfree sensing of cortisol. Chapter 5 and 6 present the design, fabrication, validation, and application of Molecular Imprinted Polymer based sensors in electrochemical and electronic (EGFET) configuration. These chapters address the issues associated with the devices reported in the previous chapters. The summary of the research undertaken, and future prospects are discussed in Chapter 7.

Chapter 2: BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Biosensing

Medicine and healthcare have been evolving ever since the dawn of humanity. They are based on a system of observation and treatment of symptoms. The only tools available for diagnosis in early times were the sense of smell, sight, touch, and hearing. Patients were treated based on how their symptoms responded to a medicine. It was the case until the late nineteenth century. The evolution of scientific tools such as microscopes, stethoscopes, etc. helped in the diagnosis of diseases. During the 20^{th} century, the development of chemical analysis tools such as gas chromatography [9], paper chromatography, mass spectroscopy, etc. enabled researchers to estimate the amount of targeted chemicals in a healthy and diseased specimen. The development of chemical analysis techniques allowed health care providers to form their diagnosis better and treat the patients accordingly. The detection of biochemical markers and their association with certain diseases paved the way for modern medicine and health care. The improved accuracy of the diagnosis saved countless lives. However, the bulky nature of the detecting equipment, the sample collections techniques, elaborate sample preparation and longer times to detection have made these diagnostic techniques expensive and limited them to labs [10-17].

Efforts are being made to make the detection of biomolecules fast, easy and cheap. One of the pioneering works in the development of such a system was by Leland C Clark in 1965[18]. He pioneered the development of an oxygen sensor. This sensor was later modified to detect glucose molecules in a drop of blood. This

technology resulted in a portable glucose meter still being used by millions of diabetics across the world to monitor their blood glucose levels every day.

However, there are very few biosensing systems available in the markets that come close to achieving a cheap, portable and easy to use system. The conventional techniques of diagnosis involve sample collection, shipping to the diagnostic lab, and involve elaborate sample preparation techniques before analysis. Despite being expensive, cumbersome and time-consuming, these techniques are still a viable option for quantification of biomolecules.

The proposed market share of personalized healthcare monitoring systems is estimated globally to be more than \$ 20 billion [19]. In order to bridge the high supply gap, researchers focused on the development of POC sensors. Several modes of biosensing were explored (optical electrochemical, electrical, etc.) to achieve easy, miniaturized and cost-effective devices.

Today most of the biosensors used are affinity-based. That means they are based on the interaction between molecules that are complementary to each other. Some of these complementary interactions are antibody-antigen coupling, aptamerprotein, DNA hybridization, etc.

According to the World health organization, world over, chronic diseases are a leading cause of death and disability. Diseases such as cardiovascular, obstructive cardiopulmonary, diabetes and cancer, etc. are significant concerns that adversely affect the lives of millions across the globe [20]. These diseases are linked by common and preventable lifestyle choice risk factors such as unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, chronic stress, etc. Among these factors, chronic stress affects the functioning of the body and inhibits normal functioning of the immune system. The

estimation of Stress is, therefore, a necessary tool that can help provide proper diagnostics and healthcare to patients. This research will focus on the detection of cortisol as the primary biomarker for detection of stress.

2.2 Why Cortisol?

Cortisol is a steroid hormone produced in the body as a response to stressor events (physical and psychological). As a steroid hormone, cortisol is produced as part of the body's stress response. It is secreted by the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) system. Normal levels of cortisol secretion follow a circadian rhythm and fluctuate significantly through a 24-hour cycle with cortisol levels highest during daybreak (30 minutes after awakening) and progressively lower as the day progresses to a minimum during night sleep [21, 22] (Figure 1).



Time of Day

Figure 1: Chemical structure of cortisol and typical diurnal variation of cortisol levels over a 24-hour cycle [21,22].

Apart from the day-night cycle, several controllable factors can affect cortisol levels such as eating patterns and physical activity. While the abnormal increase in cortisol levels inhibits inflammation, depresses the immune system, increases fatty and amino acid levels in blood [23], it is essential in maintaining a healthy metabolic rate and help in the daily functioning of many bodily functions [24-26]. Excess cortisol levels in the body have been shown to be associated with the development of Cushing's disease with the symptoms of obesity, fatigue and bone fragility [23]. On the other hand, a decrease in cortisol levels leads to Addison's disease which manifests in the form of weight loss, fatigue, darkening of skin folds and scars [27]. The most dominant effect on cortisol variation comes from psychological/emotional stress, which is why cortisol is popularly called the "Stress-hormone" [28].

Increasing level of psychological stress due to competitive living style is becoming a serious concern in the everyday schedule. Also, life-threatening diseases like heart attack, depression, and brain pain are the health challenges faced by most developed countries [29]. The accurate and precise detection of psychological stress is thus gaining attention for personalized health monitoring and diagnostics. The stress cycles (Figure 2) in human find its ways into the nervous system and upsets the chemistry of the entire body [30]. Cortisol abnormalities are often a good indicator of chronic conditions such as Addison's disease, Cushing's syndrome, and adrenal insufficiencies [23-26, 29]. Hence, real-time and continuous monitoring of cortisol levels is required to obtain valuable information that could assist doctors in better diagnosis and treatment of cortisol related conditions. In clinical practice, total cortisol, which is the sum of free and protein-bound fractions, is measured. However, free cortisol is the biologically active fraction [31] which is responsible for all cortisol related activities in the body. Hence, to diagnose and properly treat cortisol-related conditions, regular estimation of free cortisol is required. The state-of-the-art in cortisol detection is mostly limited to laboratory-based techniques such as chromatography [32-34], RIA [35], ECLIA [16, 36-39], ELISA [12, 40-42], SPR [4345], QCM [46] etc. Detection of 24-hour cortisol levels is currently a cumbersome process, which either involves admitting the patient for the time of the study [47] or the patient depositing samples (blood, saliva, sweat or urine) into vials at specified intervals during the 24-hour period and shipping of them to a diagnostic laboratory [48]. The typical turnaround time is 3 to 8 days and is still not a true representation of cortisol levels in stressful environments. At best they provide a momentary data that is difficult to relate to the stressor events at the patient end. There is currently a need to investigate cortisol sensing platforms that can be deployed at point-of-care (POC).



Figure 2: Stress cycle and its effect on human nervous system



Figure 3: Cortisol secretion regulated by the HPA axis and various bio-fluids used for cortisol estimation

Cortisol is secreted from the adrenal glands located above the kidneys. Cortisol is the product of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal (HPA) axis, which is the main component of the human body's adaptive system to maintain regulated physiological processes under changing environmental factors. The HPA axis is a complex signaling system between the hypothalamus in the brain, the pituitary glands and the adrenal glands [24]. A typical response to an environmental trigger is initiated by the hypothalamus that releases a hormone called the CRH (Corticotrophin Releasing Hormone) that travels to the pituitary glands. Specialized cells that work synergistically with the pituitary glands release ACTH (Adrenocorticotrophic Hormone) into the bloodstream that travels to the adrenal cortex. The adrenal cortex responds by increasing the production of cortisol. Since the adrenal glands have no visible innervation, it can be inferred that ACTH is the sole stimulant for initiating cortisol production. The adrenal glands do not store cortisol, but they aid in the production of cortisol. Cholesterol undergoes multiple catalyzed oxidation reactions to result in the formation of cortisol. This entire process takes place in a time space of a few minutes. The HPA axis is a negative feedback system, where Cortisol plays a critical rule in the homeostasis of the HPA axis (Figure 3). Moderate homeostatic alterations in the HPA axis is beneficial for the physiological and psychological development of the human body, sustained and prolonged exposure to environmental triggers such as stress leads to abnormal levels of cortisol in the circulatory system [24]. Secreted cortisol finds its way into the circulatory system and can be found in detectable quantities in several biofluids. In this section, an assessment of the advantages and disadvantages of using various biofluids such as urine, blood, sweat, interstitial fluid (ISF) and saliva for the detection of cortisol is presented.

2.2.1.1 Urine

Cortisol level in urine is measured over a 24-hour period and is referred to as the 24-hour urinary free cortisol (UFC) test. Only free cortisol, which is the active form of cortisol in the human body, is found in urine and is hence a relevant biofluid for the detection of cortisol. The excretion of hormones, salts and other waste chemicals through urine is a well-characterized process with good knowledge about the concentration of these waste substances under normal function. Observation of extreme variation in concentrations of hormones such as cortisol can be used to diagnose abnormalities in the adrenal function. Measurement of cortisol in urine typically requires the collection of all the urine generated over a 24-hour period. The normal range for cortisol in urine is 10 to 100 μ g/24hrs [49]. A review of the reported literature for urinary cortisol assays has been presented by Brossaud et. Al. [49] While the 24-hour urinary free cortisol test provides a means for a noninvasive, painless method of obtaining body fluid for cortisol measurement, it also poses several drawbacks with respect to convenience and reliability. Since the collection of the urine is spanned over a 24-hour period, sample collection becomes an inconvenient process where the patient needs to carry the special urine collection container all day long or must remain confined to a location for the 24-hour period. The container also needs to be stored under refrigeration from the time of collection until it is delivered to a diagnostic lab for testing. Also, several factors such as pregnancy and medication such as diuretics can alter the concentration of cortisol in urine making it a less reliable biofluid for cortisol detection. These several additional factors have severely limited the use of urine to cases where patients are admitted to the hospital for long-term treatments. The requirement of 24-hour sample collection renders urine unfit for real-time detection.

2.2.1.2 Interstitial Fluid (ISF)

ISF is an extracellular fluid that surrounds the cells in the human body. In composition, it is similar to blood plasma. Metabolites and proteins move into ISF as they move from capillaries to cells. In general, small to moderate sized molecules, including glucose, ethanol, and cortisol are found in ISF in similar proportion as in blood. Thus, periodic calibration using blood sampling is not required to obtain the concentration of these metabolites from ISF. ISF is present just below the skin, but the low permeability of the epidermal keratinized layer (the stratum corneum) blocks the permeation of the fluid through the skin. However, obtaining ISF for detection of a target biomarker could require an invasive approach as it is not readily accessible. Several approaches have been reported in the literature to obtain ISF in a minimally invasive, painless process. Venugopal et al. [50] have reported the construction of an



Figure 4: Left to right- Cross-section of micropore generated through laser ablation; Four pores relative to the size of a penny; Handheld laser source used to create micropores [51].

The diameter of the micropores is approximately equal to that of a human hair. The micropores only penetrate the stratum corneum and, hence, this procedure is virtually painless. ISF is drawn through these micropores continuously by application of a small amount of vacuum pressure (Figure 4). Harvesting of ISF using this set-up is reported at a rate of 10µl/hr. Coupled with an electrochemical detection system, Venugopal et al. [51] have reported the detection of cortisol using the same microporation set-up. Cortisol levels in ISF were found to be 3 - 4 times larger than that in saliva, which makes ISF an attractive biofluid for detection of cortisol. While this setup may provide a means to access ISF for cortisol detection, the low harvesting rate (10µl/hr) would limit its applicability for obtaining instantaneous cortisol values in a point of care setting. Micromachined microneedles for transdermal application are another option to harvest ISF [52, 53]. Microneedles have been used extensively for transdermal drug delivery [53, 54]. Mukerjee et al., have reported the design, fabrication, and testing of a hollow microneedle array containing fluidic microchannels for the transdermal extraction of ISF from human skin [55]. Wang et al. [56] have also reported the fabrication of glass microneedles for ISF extraction for glucose monitoring. These approaches show promise for creating painless, minimally

invasive methods for extraction of ISF. Microneedles based transdermal ISF extraction may find suitable application in wearable biosensing system, where there is a critical need to continuously sample body fluids such as ISF at a low sampling rate. However, concerns regarding biocompatibility and biodegradation of the microneedles, protection from infection due to the usage of needles and other sterility issues will need to be carefully addressed for successful implementation.

2.2.1.3 Sweat

Sweat analysis is a well-established method for certain diagnosis of conditions such as cystic fibrosis and drug abuse. Sweat patches could be used as effective non-invasive tools to collect biofluids [57]. Cortisol in sweat has been measured by Russell et al., [58] with cortisol concentrations ranging from 141.7 ng/mL (daytime) to 8.16 ng/mL. It is hypothesized that there exists a strong correlation between cortisol levels in sweat and hair due the path that cortisol traverses from serum, sebum, and sweat to the hair. However, very little is known about cortisol in sweat, and several inherent drawbacks exist in obtaining reliable samples to measure cortisol in sweat accurately. Perspiration is dependent on several factors such as weather conditions (humidity, temperature), geographic conditions, physical activity levels, ambient temperature or conditioned temperature and genetic make of the patient. Development of microfluidic sweat collection cloth has been proposed as further advancement in sweat-based cortisol detection where sweat will be collected using the cloth patches and analyzed using an integrated device [59].

2.2.1.4 Blood

More than 90% of cortisol in blood is in an inactive state being bound to corticosteroid binding globulin (CBG) and serum albumin. Only 10% of total cortisol

is in a biologically active state to participate in cortisol-initiated processes. Typically assays for measuring cortisol in blood involves measuring the total cortisol (bound + free) and then the active fraction, called the Cortisol Free Index (CFI) is deduced using the Coolen's equation [60]. Blood sampling for cortisol detection has been the oldest form of biofluid sampling. The nominal value for cortisol in blood varies from 25µg/dL (9AM) to 2µg/dL (midnight). Blood, however, is afflicted by many drawbacks, which has made it a last choice sampling fluid. Sampling blood required attention from medical staff and specialized, sterile equipment with an ever-existing concern for infections. While cortisol is an unstable molecule at room temperature, its presence in plasma requires special handling and storage condition as it is considered a biohazard. Since sampling blood requires puncture of veins, a painful procedure, the stress experienced by patients prior to and during sampling may elevate cortisol levels [26]. Although the typical response time for cortisol spiking is 10 to 15 minutes in humans, prior knowledge of venipuncture can initiate the stress response induced cortisol spiking. Also, the costs associated with staff, equipment, handling, and storage makes blood-based assay a shunned option.

2.2.1.5 Saliva

Over the last few years, saliva has gained considerable attention as a biofluid for analysis and detection of cortisol concentrations. This has come about mainly due to inherent advantages associated with saliva. First and foremost, a well-documented and studied the strong correlation between salivary and blood cortisol levels [61, 62]. Also, of high importance is the fact that cortisol in saliva exists entirely in the free state unlike in blood (90% bound), resulting in detection of the relevant (biologically active) form of cortisol. This is mainly due to the filtering of the CBG and Albuminbound cortisol during the capillary exchange and other intracellular mechanisms at the salivary ducts. Harvesting sample for analysis is almost entirely non-invasive with little or no discomfort to the specimen providing the sample [63]. The last few years have seen the establishment of standardized procedures for the collection of saliva, which has led to lesser variability in analyzed results. The samples can be harvested with minimum efforts that have facilitated patients to collect their own samples at home. The advantages associated with salivary techniques have led to saliva being on the verge of becoming the preferred source of body fluid for detection of cortisol. Also, the ease of sample collection, handling, and storage has heightened its prospects for applying in point of care sensors for real-time and continuous detection of cortisol.

However, there are certain aspects that may adversely affect the prospects of saliva-based cortisol detection. Since only the active component of cortisol (free cortisol) is present in saliva, the concentration of cortisol is much lower than that of blood. Moreover, the room temperature instability of salivary cortisol possesses the problem of storage during on-site detection, the nominal values for cortisol in saliva during the diurnal cycle varies from 0.5μ g/dL to 0.05μ g/dL, which requires high sensitivity assays with low detection limits for efficient detection of cortisol concentration in saliva. Strict compliance with the standard operating procedure for saliva collection can lead to erroneous results. Sometimes, the presence of blood due to oral lesions may lead to elevated levels of cortisol and cause erroneous results. Salivary cortisol assays have been reported in the literature extensively for characterizing the circadian rhythm [64], Cushing's syndrome [65], Addison's disease [66], adrenal abnormalities [67] and stress-related disorders [68].

The detailed explanation of cortisol detection in various bio-fluids using different techniques with recent advancements with further research & development at POC detection is explained in the next section.

2.2.2 Different methods of Cortisol detection

Among the label-free technologies for biomarkers detection, salivary electrochemical immunosensing has emerged as the most promising technologies for POC cortisol detection systems. Electrochemical immunosensing is based on the principle of measuring the changes in electrical properties of a conductive material due to the adsorption of an analyte on the surface functionalized with antibodies [8, 69, 70]. The electrical change is attributed to the change in the concentration of the electroactive redox species at the electrode. The mature processing capability of the micro-fabrication industry has allowed the building of microelectrodes that are highly sensitive and provide low detection limits. The simplicity of electronic circuitry for electrochemical detection and cheap volume manufacturing has driven efforts to bring electrochemical immunosensing up to speed with other immunosensing techniques [71, 72].

In recent years there have been many reports of electrochemical sensing of cortisol using electrochemical impedance spectroscopy [73] and cyclic voltammetry (CV) [74] based electrochemical cortisol immunosensor. Immunosensor has also been integrated with microfluidic systems for POC sensing [74, 75]. These reports demonstrate a workable cortisol sensing system using commercial cortisol sample. However, their application in the field is still lacking.

2.2.3 Optical/ radiological immunosensing

Amongst one of the first biosensing techniques, RIA holds a special place. It is an in vitro assay measuring accurately, the amount of antigen presents in a sample. The technique was introduced by Berson and Yalow in the '60s [76]. They performed
an assay to determine the concentration of insulin in plasma. The technique relies on the specificity of antibodies to antigens. A chemical label is tagged to either an antigen whose concentration needs to be detected or to the antibodies. The label reacts as a part of the assay and produces a signal that can be measured in the solution. In the case of RIA, such a label is a radioactive compound, the activity of which is measured using a radiation counter. Other labels cause a change in color/ fluorescence of the solution. This change is dependent on the concentration of the target to be detected. These techniques are standardized and available commercially [16, 32, 33, 35-39]. They show good sensitivity in the order of a few picograms in a solution. However, the accompanying instrumentation, elaborate sample procedure and extensive labor involved in processing the samples make it a costly affair. Among all the available labeled immunoassays, ELISA has been found to be the most sensitive and versatile and today, is considered the gold standard in protein concentration determination. ELISA is typically performed in a sandwich format, where an enzymatic substrate is added to the secondary antibody to amplify the colorimetric or fluorescent signal, thereby providing high sensitivity. Detection of cortisol using ELISA is used widely [12, 41] and often has been the technique used to validate results obtained from newer techniques being developed for cortisol detection [42]. Manenschijn et al., collected hair samples of 195 healthy individuals, 9 hypercortisolemic and one hypocortisolemic patient to estimate cortisol using a salivary ELISA kit [40]. A positive correlation between hair cortisol and both waist circumference (r = 0.392, p = 0.007) and waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) (r = 0.425, p =0.003) was found and no correlations were found between hair cortisol levels and blood pressure or age. While ELISA is the most widely used technique in research

labs and industry, the method is limited by the need for large sample and reagent volumes and complexity arising from multiple assay steps and large incubation times.

2.3 Electrochemical Immunosensors

Among the immunosensors, electrochemical immunosensors have been explored for detection of cortisol in recent times. In electrochemistry, the chemical changes can be related to the flow of electrons that give rise to oxidative or reductive species. Electrochemical immunosensing is based on the principle of measuring the changes in electrical properties of a conductive material due to the adsorption of an analyte on the surface functionalized with antibodies [8, 69, 77].

The change in the electrical charge due to the change in concentration of electro-active species at the electrode surface caused by the change of analyte concentration is utilized for sensing. The processing capabilities of the microelectronics industry have allowed fabrication of microelectrodes that provide high sensitivity and low detection limits.

The use of electrochemical immunosensing has advantages over conventional techniques. Fast response times (from sampling to result), ease of fabrication, bulk manufacture ability, small sample volumes and miniaturized supporting electronics makes them a suitable candidate for Point of care detection of cortisol. [8, 78]. Sun et al., reported cortisol antibodies immobilized on micro-fabricated Au electrodes for immune-electrochemical sensing using alkaline phosphatase (AP) enzyme for determination of salivary cortisol [79]. During the biochemical reaction, p-nitrophenol (pNP) generated via reaction between AP enzyme attached to the cortisol and antibodies in p-nitrophenyl phosphate (pNPP) solution pNP was detected using CV at

room temperature (Fig. 11). The fabricated immunosensor exhibited a detection limit of cortisol in saliva as 0.27 ng/mL with an incubation time of 10 min.

Dithiobis (succinimidyl propionate) (DTSP) self-assembled monolayer (SAM) modified interdigitated μ -electrodes (IDEs) were used for the immobilization of Cortisol specific monoclonal antibody (C-Mab) to detect cortisol using electrochemical impedance (EIS) technique [80]. EIS immunosensor exhibited the sensitivity of 2.855 k Ω /(pg/mL) and found to detect cortisol in the range of 0.36 pg/mL to 0.36 ng/mL nM in saliva. This group has further used the same immunosensing strategy to detect cortisol in ISF in vitro [73, 81]. EA/C-Mab/DTSP/Au based biosensor can accurately detect cortisol in the range of 0.36 pg/mL to 0.36 ng/mL with the detection limit of 0.36 pg/mL. The performance of this EIS based immunosensor was validated using ELISA. Authors purposed the feasibility of using impedance-based biosensor as a disposable cortisol detector, capable of working with complex bodily fluids (e.g., saliva and ISF) at point-of-care.

2.3.1 Cyclic Voltammetry

One of the most common electrochemical tools that are used for such biosensing is CV [82]. It is a powerful technique that is used for analysis of oxidized and reduced species. Using an electrochemical cell that typically comprises of working, reference and counter electrode, antibodies and antigen binding is estimated as a function of the redox current in the presence of a conducting media. For taking a CV scan, a varying potential is applied to a 3-electrode system and the response current measured. The positive peak in the voltammogram is known as the oxidation peak and the negative peak is the reduction peak. The oxidation and reduction responses can be explained using the Nernst equations. This equation relates the potential of an electrochemical cell (E) to the standard potential of a species (E0) and the relative activities16 of the oxidized (Ox) and reduced (Red) analyte in the system at equilibrium.

$$E = E^{0} + \frac{RT}{nF} \ln \frac{(Ox)}{(Red)}$$
 Equation 1

Where R is the universal gas constant, F is the Faraday's constant, n is the number of electrons and T is the temperature.

While looking at a one-electron reduction system, the Nernst equation can be utilized in such a way as to replace the activities with their concentrations (more easily determined by experimentation). The standard potential can be substituted with formal potential E^{0} , and n is equal to one.

$$E = E^{0'} + 2.3026 \frac{RT}{F} \log_{10} \frac{[Fc+]}{[Fc]}$$
 Equation 2

This equation is an excellent model to predict the change in the system with respect to change in the concentration of the chemical species or the electrode potential. Most of the CV system utilizes a working electrode, a reference electrode and a counter electrode in an electrochemical cell. One can link the change in oxidation and reduction potentials to the electron transfer at the surface of the working electrode (Figure 5). This phenomenon can be utilized for biosensing where the surface of the electrode is functionalized with detecting molecules not limited to antibody-enzyme, and aptamers. The interactions between the antigen and the detecting moieties result in a change in the redox current [82]. We explored interdigitated microelectrodes of gold as a substrate for a CV based immunosensor. The developed sensor was used to detect the various concentrations of cortisol. The above sensor was further used to detect cortisol in human saliva samples and was benchmarked against optical immunosensing technique (ELISA) [83].



Figure 5: Schematic of strategies used for electrochemical immunosensing

2.4 Limitations of Electrochemical Immunosensors

Electrochemical immunosensors utilize biomolecules (antibodies and enzymes) for the detection of analytes. However, this causes the sensor to be unstable at room temperature and a constant need for storing available sensors in the refrigerator. This prevents Point of Care application of electrochemical sensors.

Though label-free sensing techniques have been devised, they have not seen production yet. Another important factor while considering electrochemical sensing is the complexity of accompanying instrumentation. There have been efforts for making cheap and portable electronics that can fully realize the potential of electrochemical sensors for point of care.

2.5 Label-free Detection

To overcome the tedious processes, cost and shortcomings of the current detection methods, the focus has shifted to developing label-free immunosensing techniques with high sensitivity, lower detection limits and broader detection range [84]. One such technique that demonstrates label-free detection is based on Surface Plasma Resonance (SPR) [44].

SPR works on the principle of oscillation of valence electrons in a conducting substrate irradiated with light. SPR is highly sensitive to adsorption of molecules onto the substrate, where the resonance curves shift to higher wavelengths with adsorption of molecules onto the surface. SPR has shown promise as a method to quantitatively measure the capture of the analyte on substrates coated with antibodies. The associated detection optics and electronic for SPR measurement can be reduced to miniaturized form factors and has hence attracted efforts to create point-of-care immunosensors [43]. More recently, detection of cortisol in saliva [45] and other biofluids using SPR has been reported in the literature. On the same lines as SPR, another technique gaining ground for immune-sensing is based on the resonance property of quartz crystal microbalance (QCM) [46]. Cortisol antibody was layered onto the Au gold electrodes of a 10 MHz piezoelectric crystal to fabricate a piezoelectric crystal immunosensor for the detection of cortisol [85]. Piezoelectric crystal was pre-cleaned, protein-A and immunosensors detected cortisol at concentration range 3.628 µg/mL. The proposed sensor includes elements of simplicity, short analysis time, cost-effectiveness and selectivity. However, there is a scope for improvement with respect to its detection limit.

24

Label-free sensing has also been demonstrated using Nanomaterials while doing CV measurements. Kaushik et all used Nanoparticles of Ag/AgO_x core-shell nanoparticles in a polymer matrix of Polyaniline to make an immunosensor for cortisol. This work tries to explore the fabrication and utilization of Copper oxide nanoparticles on a screen-printed carbon electrode for sensing purpose. The modified SPCE was used for making a cortisol immunosensor to demonstrate Label-free sensing. The fabricated sensor showed a sensitivity of 421 uA/M and had a limit of detection as 6.6 nM cortisol.

2.6 Reusable Sensors- MIPs

In nature, antibodies have receptor sites that can bind to specific antigens and function as an ultimate sensor. However, replication of such a sensing system by artificial means has been quite challenging. The use of antibodies in biosensors has been indispensable due to their sensitive and selective properties. However, their production requires significant effort and cost. This system can be mimicked using molecularly imprinted polymers at much less cost and effort. MIP are synthetic polymers having highly specific recognition sites selective towards the target analyte. The MIP-based biomimetic sensors have a considerable impact owing to their potential application. They have advantages such as low cost, easy storage, and applicability in harsh conditions. They also have long lifetimes as compared to enzymes, antibodies, and proteins which require temperature and pH-controlled environments for storage. Another attractive feature of MIP based biosensor is its reversible binding with the target analyte which makes it highly reusable where frequent/continuous monitoring is required. MIPs can be described as analogs to the antibody-antigen mechanism. Their operation can be best described as a lock and key mechanism that allows them to bind to target molecules selectively. The schematic below (Figure 6) shows the fabrication scheme of a cortisol specific MIP sensor. Several production methods such as bulk polymerization, precipitation polymerization, and emulsion have been demonstrated for the fabrication of MIPs. However, controlled production and transfer of MIP to a transducer surface have been challenging. This research will explore an electrochemical technique for the manufacture of MIP. Electrochemical MIP fabrication enables control over thickness, morphology, and reproducibility.



Figure 6: Schematic for fabrication of cortisol MIP biosensor on SPCE surface.

2.7 The Field Effect Transistor

The FET was first proposed in the 1930s by Lilienfield [86] and developed for practical use in 1960 by Kahng and Atalla [87]. The rapid growth and expansion of the modern semiconductor industry can be attributed to the development of metaloxide-semiconductor-field-effect transistor (MOSFET) or the FET as it is known in short. The FET has been an essential device for VLSI circuits and has been used in logic/ semiconductor memory devices as well. This has primarily been enabled due to the miniaturization, cost reduction, and longer lifetimes offered by switching to ICs as compared to Vacuum tubes. The integration of millions of complex active and passive devices on a single silicon wafer has enabled a new and wide array of applications. Ushering in a technological revolution that has changed the way we communicate control and process data in a matter of few decades [88].

The basic structure of a FET is composed of a semiconducting channel between two conductor pads known as source and drain. The channel is sandwiched between the substrate and an overlying oxide layer. The oxide layer is coated with a conductive layer to form what is known as a gate (Figure 7).



Figure 7: A typical top gated Si thin film transistor

Application of voltage on the gate controls the amount of current that flows between the source and drain pads (due to the application of a source to drain voltage). This mechanism allows the FET to be used as a variable resistor and a switch. The growth of semiconductor industry led to the growth of thin film fabrication industry as well, leading to the facilitation of the development of FETs made entirely of thin films of metals/ semiconductors/ insulators. These thin film transistors (TFTs) were first produced in 1965 [89]. They were made for scanning image sensors and were CdSe TFTs. The fabrication of TFTs on insulating substrates helped in reduction of parasitic losses that were associated with the silicon substrate. The patent by Edgar [86] describes the first thin film transistor. Under the normal operating condition, a typical TFT, by the application of a voltage bias to the gate electrode induces the accumulation of the electrons (in case of an n-type semiconductor) in the semiconductor channel.



Figure 8: Different configurations of a TFT [1]

A simultaneous application of a Positive voltage to the drain results in a flow of electrons from source to drain. The initial development of MOSFETs was much rapid than TFTs, however, with the emerging technology and applications of TFTs towards thin, flexible, large area electronics, sensing, smart labels, lighting, etc. this field has rapidly caught up. Several configurations have been reported and developed for TFT applications. These can be classified according to the device structure. There are four types of FET structure – coplanar (top gated), coplanar (bottom gated), staggered (top gated) and inverted staggered (bottom gated). The position of the gate, source and drain electrodes with respect to the insulator and semiconductor layer (Figure 8) defines these differences. In a coplanar structure, all three electrodes are on one side of the semiconductor layer. However, in a staggered structure, the gate electrode is on one side of the semiconducting layer while the source and drain electrodes are on the other side [90].

2.7.1 ISFET as a biosensor

Another form of FET that is commonly used in sensing applications is Ion Sensitive FET or ISFET. First invented by Bergveld [91]. It is used for measuring ion concentrations in a solution. The figure below shows the typical ISFET configuration. It consists of a source and drain pads with a semiconducting channel encompassing them. The channel is typically covered with a gate insulator such as SiO_2 , Si_3N_4 , Al₂O₃, etc. The channel and the gate insulator are then surrounded with a well to enclose the solution under test. The gating action is achieved with the help of an external electrode suspended in the solution. The solution acts as a gate electrode. Presence of an ion layer between the substrate and the oxide layer results in a voltage between them. The hydrolysis of OH bonds on the surface of the gate insulator varies as the pH of the solution varies. Resulting in a change in the drain current. The external electrode provides a reference potential against which the drain current can be calibrated. Today ISFET based sensing devices have been used for various applications. Rothberg et al. have shown an IC device for DNA Sequencing. The device contains 1.2 million wells with ISFETs in them. They were able to sequence three bacterial and a human genome using this device. Their device showed proton sensitivity of 58mV/pH. Kiani Sasakia et al. [92] reported Graphene-based electrolyte gated FET. They claimed that a label-free biosensor to measure enzyme activity was possible using ISFETs, their device had sample volumes as low as 20 microliters. EGFET have been claimed to be an extension of traditional ISFET architecture by Viera et al. [93]. They claim to have improved upon the ISFET design by isolating the chemical environment from the FET and used this scheme to detect Glucose with a detection limit of 0.027mM. Still, in another study, the sensor chips have been integrated with a microfluidic channel to monitor potassium and pH levels [94].

2.7.2 Extended Gate FET

This configuration of FET is widely used for the fabrication of biosensors. It is derived from the ISFET configuration of the FET [95].

In this configuration, the gate of the FET is connected externally to a functionalized substrate. The substrate is often bound by a well to hold a specific amount of liquid. An external electrode is dipped in the liquid. This electrode is connected to an external supply that provides a voltage to the gate through the externally connected substrate. The substrate serves as an ion sensitive site. This configuration allows the active FET device to be isolated from the harsh chemical environment and allows the device to function stably. Also, this configuration can lead to a simple plug and play architecture enabling the user to discard the sensing substrate when it is saturated or becomes nonfunctional.

This research will explore the use of MIP based sensing substrate along with a commercially available FET for use in an EGFET configuration. The use of cortisol specific MIP on an SPCE will allow the sensor to provide direct sensor readout (in the form of drain current concerning cortisol concentration). The above configuration will also address the challenges of label-free and repeatable sensing.

2.8 Conclusion

Several techniques allow sensitive detection of cortisol in a sample. However, most of the state of art techniques suffer from limitations that prevent their widespread use. This chapter serves to introduce the reader to some of the common cortisol detection methods and them with their main advantages and limitations. Some techniques are introduced in the latter part of the chapter (CV, MIP, EGFET) that can address the issues of the earlier recorded methods. The subsequent chapter will record the developments and validation of a thin film based electrochemical immunosensor for the detection of cortisol.

Chapter 3: ELECTROCHEMICAL IMMUNOSENSING OF SALIVARY CORTISOL.

3.1 Abstract

This chapter will discuss the development and validation of Au thin film based electrochemical immunosensors for detection of cortisol. A self-assembled monolayer of DTSP was functionalized on a thin film Au based IDEs. Cortisol specific antibodies were then immobilized, and the non-binding sites were blocked using EA on the SAM layer. The sensors were characterized at each layer using CV. The fabricated immunosensors were characterized using different cortisol concentration. These sensors were then validated by detecting cortisol in human saliva samples and comparing the results with standard ELISA process. The fabricated sensors had a detection range from 10 pg/mL to 100 ng/mL and a detection limit of 10 pg/mL. These sensors performed well as compared to the ELISA results.

3.2 Introduction

Among the label-free technologies for biomarkers detection, salivary electrochemical immunosensing has emerged as the most promising technologies for POC cortisol detection systems. The cortisol concentration in saliva is lower than total serum cortisol by a factor of 10, and the correlation between serum and salivary markers is substantial [77] [96]. Salivary cortisol concentrations accurately reflect the serum concentration at various times of day (morning, evening and around midnight) [37]. Moreover, the salivary cortisol contains only free cortisol making protocol easier [25]. Electrochemical immunosensing is based on the principle of measuring the changes in electrical properties of a conductive material due to the adsorption of an analyte on the surface functionalized with antibodies [4, 8, 69]. The electrical change is attributed to the change in the concentration of the electroactive redox species at the electrode. The mature processing capability of the micro-fabrication industry has allowed the building of microelectrodes that are highly sensitive and provide low detection limits. The simplicity of electronic circuitry for electrochemical detection and low-cost volume manufacturing has driven efforts to bring electrochemical immunosensing up to speed with other immunosensing techniques [71, 72].

In recent years there have been many reports of electrochemical sensing of cortisol using electrochemical impedance spectroscopy [80] and CV [97]. SAM [73, 81], Au nanowires [98], Au-PANI nanocomposite [99], and AgO@Ag-PANI nanocomposite[4] based electrochemical cortisol immunosensor were reported. Immunosensor were also integrated with microfluidic systems for POC sensing [74, 75].

These reports demonstrate a workable cortisol sensing system using commercial cortisol sample. However, their application for field use is not explored yet. In this paper, we report on the ability of the sensor to detect cortisol in saliva samples of farm workers. IDEs functionalized with DTSP-SAM followed by covalent immobilization of Anti-Cab were used to detect the concentration of cortisol present in the saliva samples. The results obtained from the electrochemical detection were validated through ELISA protocol currently in use.

This work aimed to establish a cortisol sensing protocol using saliva samples collected from human subjects and its validation with the standard ELISA technique, which was not reported earlier. This protocol will be used to understand the behavioral change of farm workers on exposure to pesticides.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Saliva sample Collection

Saliva samples were derived from a biologically-relevant sample of two female agricultural workers of reproductive age who engage in shift-work. Evidence indicates that cortisol levels vary significantly among female shift workers [70, 100-102] and that stress associated with agricultural work is associated with cortisol level variation [103-107], as is exposure to cortisol [108]. Farmworkers were 24 and 39 years of age and were recruited based on the following criteria: be at least 18 years of age, and work in agricultural fieldwork, work early morning shifts, and have exposure to pesticides. These samples were drawn from another study measuring the effects of a behavioral study to assess pesticide exposures and stress response. Recruitment, analyses and other procedures for this study were approved by the Human Subjects Boards at the Penn State University and the Florida International University.

Samples were collected at awakening, before their first work break, at their lunch break (before eating), upon arrival from work and before bedtime. Samples were stored by participants' at freezing (-20°C) until the project team transferred them and stored at -80°C in the field lab. The standard protocol requires the storage saliva samples to at -20°C or lower for the preservation of natural and biological properties over extended periods and during transportation. Saliva samples were collected by each farmworker using a Salivette (Sarstedt Inc., Rommelsdorf, Germany), which consists of a small cotton roll inside a centrifuge tube. Each farmworker took the Salivette home after receiving written and oral instruction on how to collect saliva. Participants collected a saliva sample by chewing on the cotton roll for 60 seconds.

The collected saliva samples were stored at -20°C to maintain its biological characteristics. Before the sensing, the saliva samples were brought to room temperature and centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 15 min to extract saliva from salivettes. The separated saliva was then pipetted out and kept at -20°C when not in use. These samples were further used to detect cortisol using electrochemical immunosensors and ELISA.

3.3.2 Immunosensor Fabrication

3.3.2.1 Electrochemical Cleaning of IDEs

The IDEs (chamber volume ~5 μ L, electrode width, and electrode gap 10 μ m) were procured from Micrux Technologies (Fig 1). The IDEs were electrochemically cleaned prior to DTSP-SAM modification through performing CV, Autolab Potentiostat/Galvanostat (Eco Chemie, Netherlands)] using 5 μ L of 0.1 M H₂SO₄ as a function of varying scanning cycles at a scan rate of 50 mV/S. The parameters of the IDE cleaning process were optimized using CV techniques in 5 μ L PBS (pH 7.4) containing 5 mM K₄[Fe(CN)₆]^{3-/4-} at a scan rate of 50 mV/s (Fig 2A). The magnitude of the current response obtained was found to increase with increasing cleaning scanning cycles (5-10). The higher current response was observed in the case of IDEs cleaned using 9 cycles and higher. However, the electrode started to etch after 9 scanning cycles. Thus, IDEs were cleaned using 7 scanning cycles in 5 μ L, 0.1M H₂SO₄. All IDEs were cleaned using the same process and exhibited identical current response (within ~ 2% variation, Fig 2B) without morphological damage.

3.3.2.2 Fabrication of DTSP-SAM onto IDEs and Electrochemical Cortisol Immunosensing

DTSP, Sodium Borohydride (NaBH₄), monoclonal anti-cortisol antibody (Anti- C_{ab}), Cortisol and all other chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and were used without any further purification. For fabrication of DTSP-SAM, the IDEs were immersed in 2 mg/mL solution of DTSP in acetone for 2h. During the SAM fabrication, DTSP was reduced using NaBH₄ (10 mg/mL in DI water). After SAM modification, all DTSP/IDEs were rinsed with acetone and then by DI water to remove unbound DTSP particles. Anti-Cab (5 µL) was covalently immobilized via a facile reaction between the amino group of antibodies and reactive succinimidyl group of the DTSP SAM surface. The DTSP-SAM/IDE were incubated with Anit-Cab for 2hrs followed by carefully washing with PBS (pH 7.4, 10 mM) to remove any unbound molecules [74]. Phosphate buffer saline (PBS) solution (10mM, pH 7.4) was prepared by dissolving 1 PBS tablet in 200 mL of de-ionized (DI) water and used to prepare the Anti- C_{ab} (1mg/mL) and cortisol solutions. The non-binding sites of Anti- $C_{ab}/DTSP/IDEs$ bioelectrode were blocked using 5 µL of EA. The incubation time was 10 min. EA/Anti-Cab/DTSP/IDEs were washed with PBS and stored in a refrigerator at 4°C when not in use. The fabrication of SAM onto IDEs and immunosensor development is shown in Figure 1A.

3.3.2.3 Measurement of Cortisol

The fabricated EA/Anti-C_{ab}/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunoelectrodes were used to detect the various concentration of cortisol using CV techniques in 5µL PBS (pH 7.4) containing 5 mM [Fe (CN)₆]^{3-/4-} as redox moieties. The pH of 7.4 was chosen for electrochemical response studies of immunosensor, as this is the recommended pH for biomolecules to presume higher biological activity [73]. The electrochemical and

immuno-chemical reaction on IDEs surface is shown Figure 1B. The fabricated immunoelectrodes were used to detect cortisol in saliva samples of two specimens collected at different time intervals. 5 μ l of saliva sample was placed on the electrochemical immunosensor. The saliva sample was incubated for 30 minutes on the sensor to ensure proper binding. Immunoelectrodes were then washed using PBS ~10 mL to remove unbound saliva.

Cortisol Enzyme Immunoassay Kit was procured form Arbor Assays, MI and a standard protocol were adopted to detect saliva cortisol. In Brief, 50 μ l of 4X diluted saliva was used for the detection of cortisol.

3.4 Results and Discussions

3.4.1 Electrochemical Characterization

CV technique was used to optimize the step-wise fabrication of electrochemical immunosensor which is utilized to detect cortisol. Figure 9 shows the results of the CV studies for IDEs (a), DTSP-SAM/IDEs (b), Anti-Cab/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunoelectrode (c) and EA/Anti-Cab/DTSP-SAM/IDEs (d) in 5 μ L PBS (pH 7.4) containing 5 mM Fe(II)/Fe(III) at 50 mV/s in a potential range from -0.6 to 0.6 V. CV of IDEs exhibited a well-defined oxidation and reduction peaks of redox moieties present in the electrolyte. The magnitude of electrochemical current response decreases after modifying IDEs by DTSP-SAM. This suggests that SAM hinders the electron transport from Fe(II)/Fe(III) to IDEs due to strong Thiol bonding between DTSP-SAM and Au of IDEs which indicates successful DTSP-SAM fabrication. After the immobilization of Anti-C_{ab}, the magnitude of current from DTSP-SAM/IDEs further decreases due to the covalent binding between Anti-C_{ab} and DTSP

via amide bond formation. The magnitude of current from EA/Anti- $C_{ab}/DTSP$ -SAM/IDEs immunoelectrode was lower than Anti- $C_{ab}/DTSP$ -SAM/IDEs immunoelectrode. This reduction of current is a clear indication that the non-conducting EA blocks the non-binding sites on immunoelectrode and reduce the electron transport from the electrolyte to IDEs.



Figure 9: CV studies of IDEs (a) DTSP-SAM modified IDEs (b), Anti-Cab immobilized DTSP-SAM/IDEs electrode (c), and EA immobilized Anti-Cab/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunoelectrode (d) using 5 μL PBS (pH 7.4) containing 5 mM [Fe(CV)6]3-/4- at 50 mV/s. The CV studies of electrodes and immuno-electrodes have been performed as

a function of scan rate (10-100 mV/s). A linear relationship between the magnitude of oxidation/reduction current and the square root of scan rate (data not shown) has been observed for all electrodes. This confirms that the assay is a linear-diffusion-driven process. It obeys Randles-Sevcik equation $i_p = (2.69 \times 10^5) n^{2/3} A C D^{1/2} v^{1/2}$, where n is the number of transferred electrons, A is the active area of the electrode, C is the bulk concentration of the redox species, D is the diffusion coefficient, and v is the scan rate[109]. The magnitude of the current response is also linearly related to differences

in potentials revealing the facile electron transport from the electrode to the IDE surface.

3.4.2 Electrochemical Response Studies of Cortisol

Electrochemical response studies of developed DTSP-SAM-modified IDEs immunosensor as a function of cortisol concentration (10 pg/mL to 100 ng/mL) was performed using CV technique in 5 μ L PBS (pH 7.4) containing 5mM [Fe(CN)6]3-/4with a potential range of -0.6 to 0.6 V at a scan rate of 0.5mV/s. Prior to electrochemical measurement, 5 μ L of each cortisol sample was incubated on the immunosensor surface for 30 mins for complete binding of Anti-Cab with standard cortisol solution. A washing step using 30 μ L of PBS was performed to remove the unbound cortisol from the sensor surface. All the CV measurements were performed in triplets. The result of CV studies indicates that the magnitude of current response decreases on the addition of cortisol due to the formation of insulating immunocomplex between Anti-Cab and cortisol which further inhibit the electron transport from the electrolyte to IDEs surface (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Electrochemical response of EA/Anti-C_{ab}/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunoelectrode after addition of standard cortisol solution

A calibration curve (Figure 11) plotted between the magnitude of current response and logarithm of cortisol concentration was found to be linearly dependent and follow the equation $[Y = 1.5 \times 10^{-5} + 6 \times 10^{-6} \log (\text{Cortisol concentration}); R = 0.99]$. The fabricated EA/Anti-C_{ab}/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunosensor exhibited linearity in the range of 0.1 to 100 ng/mL, a detection limit of 10 pg/mL, a sensitivity of 6 μ A/(pg/mL) with the regression coefficient of 0.99 and standard deviation of 0.6 μ A.



Figure 11: Calibration curve plotted between the magnitudes of current response obtained and logarithm of cortisol concentration (10 pg/mL to 100 ng/mL)

The confirmation of Anti- C_{ab} onto DTSP-SAM/IDEs electrode and its affinity with cortisol was understood through the association constant (*K*a, 3×10^{12} L mol⁻¹) between Anti- C_{ab} and cortisol, calculated using Lineweaver–Burke-like plot. *Ka* value greater than 10^{11} is accepted as a demonstration of high affinity [110]. Figure 12 shows the results of the CV studies of EA/Anti- C_{ab} /DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunoelectrode with respects to interferents such as PSA (100 pg/mL), NSE (100 pg/mL), EGFR (100 pg/mL) and BSA+Cortisol (100 pg/mL) with respect to cortisol (100 pg/mL). The interferents were dispensed on the immunosensor (EA/AntiC- Abs/DTSP-SAM/µIDEs), and their electrochemical response was measured. The change in electrochemical response of the interferents was compared to that of the immunosensor, and it was found to be of the order of 1-2%. As compared to the change in the response of Cortisol signal, which was in the order of 13-14 %, the effects of interferents can be conveniently neglected. This demonstrates that the effect of interferents on EA/Anti-C_{ab}/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunosensor is minimal and the antibodies are selective to the cortisol molecule. A CV study was also carried out to study the shelf life of the EA/Anti-C_{ab}/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunosensor at intervals of 1 week (data not shown). The results of the study showed electrodes were stable for 28 days and beyond that time the electrochemical response reduced.



Figure 12: CV studies of EA/Anti-Cab/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immuno-electrode with respects to interferents such as PSA (100 pg/mL), NSE (100pg/mL), EGFR (100pg/mL) and BSA+Cortisol (100 pg/mL) with respect to cortisol (100 pg/mL)

3.4.3 Electrochemical Immunosensing of Saliva Cortisol

The IDEs based electrochemical immunosensor for cortisol sensing was utilized for testing of cortisol concentrations in saliva samples. 05 μ L of the saliva sample was incubated on the electrochemical immunosensor for a period of 30 mins.

A washing step using 30 μ L of PBS was performed to remove the saliva and any unbound cortisol from the sensor surface. 5 μ l of Ferri Ferro solution was then used to perform CV. The electrochemical response studies of EA/Anti-C_{ab}/DTSP-SAM/IDEs immunoelectrodes carried out using CV in 5 μ L of PBS containing 5mM Fe(II)/ Fe(III) as the redox probe at a scan rate of 50 mV/s. A very significant change in current response of immunosensor is observed on adding each saliva samples. Cortisol concentration was read using the calibration curve developed in electrochemical response studies (section 3.2). All samples were measured in triplicates, and the average was computed to validate with the ELISA technique as presented in Table 1 and Table 2.

Table 1: Cortisol Values as measured in saliva samples using the developed immunosensor

Sample	Saliva Collection	Measured	Cortisol Concentration	Final Cortisol
-	Time and Date	Electrochemical	(Obtained Concn. x 2.2)	Concentration
		Response (µA)	(nMol/L)	(ng/dL)
А	3/26/2013 (9:47AM)	7.16	3.63	131.78
	3/27/2013 (10:00AM)	7.38	3.81	138.37
	3/27/2013 (10:03PM)	12.23	0.90	32.94
	3/28/2013 (2:00AM)	8.89	1.818	65.89
В	3/26/2013 (10:13AM)	5.24	9.09	329.45
	3/27/2013 (1:42AM)	7.76	2.727	98.83
	3/27/2013 (10:13AM)	4.26	14.54	428.29
	3/28/2013 (3:02AM)	9.17	1.93	69.18

Table 2: Cortisol Values measured in saliva samples using Cortisol ELISA kit

Sample	Saliva Collection	Measured	Cortisol Concentration	Final Cortisol
	Time and Date	Response (4x	(pg/mL) 4X dilution	Concentration
		dilution)		(ng/dL)
		(%B/Bo)		
А	3/26/2013 (9:47AM)	64.133	389	155.6
	3/27/2013 (10:00AM)	66.909	360	144
	3/27/2013 (10:03PM)	56.113	594	237.6
	3/28/2013 (2:00AM)	81.758	182	72.8
В	3/26/2013 (10:13AM)	41.705	995	398
	3/27/2013 (1:42AM)	99.559	125	50
	3/27/2013 (10:13AM)	40.956	1187	474.8
	3/28/2013 (3:02AM)	96.695	87	34.8

3.4.4 Detection of Salivary Cortisol using ELISA

Saliva samples from the same salivette were tested for cortisol using ELISA (Arbor Assays, MI). This was done to validate the results obtained from the electrochemical immunosensor. The protocol prescribed by the ELISA kit vendor was followed for cortisol detection in saliva samples. A calibration curve for cortisol measurement was established, the assay was performed in a 96-well titer plate consisting of six known standard cortisol concentrations (100, 200, 400, 800, 1600 and 3200 pg/mL) and the saliva samples. The calibration curve obtained from the measurement of the standard solutions is presented in Fig 6. Next, the saliva samples were diluted 1:4 in the provided assay buffer and 50 μ L of saliva samples were tested in triplicate sets, and the average value was utilized to determine the final cortisol concentration and is presented in

Table 2. Figure 13 presents the comparison of results obtained for cortisol detection in saliva samples tested using the electrochemical immunosensor and ELISA. The trend observed for the electrochemical measurements were mostly consistent with that obtained from ELISA, except for the saliva sample from Specimen A [3/27/2013 (10:03pm)], in which the ELISA value was observed to be a high value at night time. This observed difference may be due to an experimental error of denatured saliva sample.

Since both methods have different transduction techniques to detect cortisol concentration, the results were in different magnitudes. To compare and correlate these responses, one was scaled to the other. All values of cortisol concentration obtained from the corresponding electrochemical calibration curve were adjusted by a factor of 2.2 to compare them with values obtained using ELISA assays. A good correlation was achieved between the two sets of data, thus enabling quantitative validation of the electrochemical immunosensing of Cortisol in a biologically relevant fluid such as saliva.



Figure 13: Comparison of cortisol concentration measured by ELISA and Electrochemical measurement on saliva samples from Specimen A & B at specific time intervals over three days.

3.5 Conclusions

The electrochemical immunosensing platform was utilized for a low-cost and label-free detection of cortisol via covalent immobilization of Anti-C_{ab} onto DTSP-SAM-modified IDEs (chamber volume 5 μ L, electrode width 10 μ m and electrode gap 10 μ m). The fabricated electrochemical immunosensor exhibited a detection range from 10 pg/mL to 100 ng/mL, a detection limit of 10 pg/mL, and a sensitivity of 6 μ A/(pg/mL) with the regression coefficient of 0.99. The sensor has been used for salivary cortisol detection in clinically relevant samples, and sensing performance has successfully validated using conventional ELISA method. The cortisol value in saliva samples of two specimens collected at different time intervals using DSTP-SAM/IDEs correlates (within 2-5%) with those obtained using ELISA. The developed sensor can reliably detect cortisol in saliva within a physiological range which can be used as a marker to understand various physical, behavioral and psychological variables which may affect the central nervous system.

Chapter 4: NANO ENABLED SIGNAL AMPLIFICATION IN SAM BASED ELECTROCHEMICAL CORTISOL IMMUNOSENSORS

4.1 Abstract

Electrochemical immunosensors function by measuring the changes in the electrical properties such as current, potential, conductance, capacitance, and impedance during an immunochemical reaction between antigen (target molecule) and the antibody [111, 112]. Although capacitive and impedimetric immunosensors can be directly utilized to investigate the antibody-antigen interaction without the need of other reagents and separation steps, their analytical sensitivity is limited in clinical applications. Amperometric immunosensors based on the measurement of currents resulting from the electrochemical oxidation or reduction of electroactive species has attracted more interests for high sensitivity and low complexity instrumentation [112]. However, amperometric immunosensors requires labeling of either antigen or antibody, since both the reaction partners are electrochemically inert. Labeling is a time-consuming process, costly and denatures the biomolecules. Amperometric immunosensors that utilize an electrolyte solution containing reversible redox species have been widely used as mediator probes instead of labeling antibodies/antigens; however, this causes electrode contamination, reagentconsumption and operation inconvenience., label-free amperometric immunosensors have been proposed to address the above issues. One possible way to achieve labelfree sensing was by integrating of signal generating probe on electrode surfaces itself. This was achieved by electrochemical fabrication of Copper based nanoparticles on SPCE working surface.

46

4.2 Introduction

The use of nanomaterials as signal generating probes for electrochemical detection of biomarkers have been reviewed earlier [111]. However, the selection of signal generating probe is vital for electrochemical immunosensor, especially for label-free electrochemical immunosensor, since it is responsible for three major tasks: (i) being redox active and produce electrochemical signals for corresponding immunocomplex formation, (ii) increasing specific surface area of electrode to immobilize more antibodies and (iii) improving conductivity for sensitive detection of antigen. For electrochemical devices, nanoparticles, carbon nanotubes, and graphene have been used to catalyze electrochemical reactions and to improve electron transfer. Nanoparticles, especially have also been used as labels to generate an intense signal in comparison with electroactive molecules or organometallic complexes like ferrocene. Indeed, due to their high number of atoms, a large number of electrons can be exchanged through oxidation or reduction.

Group 11 metals (Cu, Ag, and Au), which are very weak chemisorbing agents, often display marked catalytic and electrocatalytic properties. Some types of copper electrodes showed an excellent electrocatalytic activity for DNA detection without observable self-poisoning. Copper electrodes undergo oxidation at unexpectedly low potentials, typically within the so-called double layer region, to form surface-bonded copper (I) hydrous oxide species.

A reagent-less and label-free voltammetric immunosensing strategy was demonstrated by employing a nanomaterial integrated electrode as a signal generating probe. Copper/copper oxide (Cu/Cu_xO) nanoparticles integrated SPCE were used to construct the immunosensing platform. The stress biomarker, cortisol was employed as a model analyte. Cortisol specific monoclonal antibodies (C-Mab) were covalently immobilized on the surface of the Cu/Cu_xO-SPCE functionalized with DTSP-SAM. The formation of Cu/Cu_xO nanoparticles on the surface of SPCE was characterized by SEM and XRD analysis. The redox signal of the Cu/Cu_xO nanoparticles could be detected directly through CV and used as signal generation probe for the direct detection of cortisol. The formation of immunocomplexes leads to a decrease in the electrochemical redox signal of Cu/CuO nanoparticles. This was due to the increased spatial blocking of the electrode surface. The proposed immunosensing strategy allows a rapid and sensitive means of cortisol analysis with a limit of detection of about 1 pg/mL. The Cu/Cu_xO platform can be further applied for designing other label-free immunoassays.

4.3 Experimental

4.3.1 Materials and methods

SPCE from Zensor was used for the construction of biosensor. The thiol-based crosslinker, DTSP, and sodium borohydride (NaBH4) were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific. Copper (II) Chloride (CuCl2), Potassium chloride (KCl) and Sodium Hydroxide (NaOH), used for deposition of copper nanoparticles were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. The buffer solution used for characterization was prepared from sodium phosphate monobasic (NaH2PO4) and sodium phosphate dibasic (Na2HPO4), also purchased from Sigma Aldrich. All the chemicals were of analytical grade and were used without further purification.

4.3.2 Measurement and apparatus

CV and amperometry were employed using a potentiostat from CHI Instruments Inc. Electrochemical Instrumentation (Austin, TX, USA) to record the amperometry and voltammetry plots. The three-electrode configuration system used in this work consisted of a carbon working electrode and silver reference electrode and an external Pt mesh as a counter electrode. This was placed at the bottom of a 6 ml electrochemical cell for cleaning and deposition with constant stirring through a magnetic stirrer on a heater under different temperature variants. SEM images of the nanostructures on the sensor surface were taken using SEM 6330/JEOL FE-SEM

4.3.3 Electro-synthesis of copper nanostructures

Before carrying out the nano-assembly on to the SPCE, the working electrode surface of SPCE was electrochemically pretreated by immersing it in 0.1 M H2SO4 and cycling the potential between - 0.5 and 1.0 V at 100 mV/s. The primary purpose of this pretreatment was to remove organic ink constituents or contaminants and to increase the surface roughness of the SPCE. After pretreatment, the SPCE was washed well with deionized water and dried in air. Amperometry was used for the electro-deposition of copper nanoparticles onto the working electrode of SPCE. Cu nanoparticles were deposited onto the electrode at a constant potential, and then they were oxidized into CuO by potential cycling. Briefly, a constant potential of -0.35 V was applied to the electrode in the precursor solution of 0.1 M KCl and 0.01 M CuCl2 which had been pre-purged with N2 for 15 min. The electrode was then rinsed several times with water and dried with a flow of N2 before it was repeatedly scanned in a 0.1 M NaOH with CV under the potential range of -0.5 to 0.3V at 100 mV/s for 20 cycles, allowing the Cu nanoparticles to be oxidized into CuO nanoparticles. This was

followed by rinsing in DI water and characterization in 0.1M PBS after purging with N₂.

4.3.4 Biosensor fabrication and enzyme immobilization

Formation of a self-assembled monolayer (SAM) of DTSP on the metal nanostructure integrated SPCE followed by anti-cortisol antibody immobilization. DTSP solution (10 mg/ml) was prepared using acetone and incubated on the electrode for 2hrs for SAM formation where the enzyme was covalently immobilized with DTSP via crosslinking. DTSP solution was first reduced using NaBH4 and then dispensed on the nano-material integrated electrodes at room temperature for SAM formation. The DTSP SAM-modified electrodes were then rinsed with acetone to eliminate any unbound DTSP followed by cleaning in DI water. [12] Cortisol antibodies were then covalently attached to the SAM-modified electrode by drop-casting with 100ul of anti-cortisol antibody solutions It is from the facile reaction between the amino group of the antibody and reactive succinimidyl group of the DTSP on the SAM surface below, that the covalent binding results [13]. The non-binding sites of Ab/Cu-CuO/SPCE bioelectrode were obstructed by immobilizing 10μ L of bovine serum albumin (BSA) for an hour followed by rinsing in PBS and dried with N2 at room temperature.

4.4 **Results and discussion**



Figure 14: CV of copper nanoparticles being overoxidized for three cycles



Figure 15: SEM image of the copper Oxide Nanoparticle deposited SPCE. The Particle size ranges from ~150nm.

The Copper Oxide nanoparticle modified SPCE was characterized by CV using the potentiometer form CHI instruments. The CV scans in Figure 14 show the overoxidation of copper nanoparticles to copper oxide at potentials higher than 0.5 V over three cycles. With each subsequent cycle the overoxidation potential shifts towards the higher side, and at the end of the third cycle, it is observed to be at 0.6 V.

The resulting copper oxide nanoparticles were characterized by SEM [JEOL JSM-6330F FESEM]. Figure 15 shows the SEM image of the CuO modified SPCEs showing the dispersion of nanoparticles. XRD studies of the nano-functionalized electrode surface show the presence of Copper and Copper Oxide peaks.

The SEM image in Figure 15 shows the uniform distribution of copper oxide nanoparticles on the SPCE. The estimated average particle size is ~150 nm. The XRD graph in Figure 16 shows the presence of a prominent copper peak and smaller



Figure 16: XRD image of Copper/Copper oxide nanoparticles on the SPCE

copper oxide peak. This indicates the formation of a core-shell structure of a CuO/Cu nanoparticle. The core of nanoparticle consists of Cu surrounded by a shell of CuO. The fabricated immunosensors were used to detect the various concentration of cortisol using CV with PBS as the electrolyte. The CV scans for PBS shows the oxidation response current at 431 μ A. After the Anti-cortisol antibody immobilization, the magnitude the oxidation current response went down to 213 μ A. this indicates successful binding of the antibodies to the sensor surface. The reduction in current response can be explained due to the hindrance in electron transport caused by the insulating nature of the antibodies. The electrochemical response current of the fabricated immunosensor was studied in PBS (pH-7) as a function of cortisol concentration. Figure 18 shows the oxidation peak current of immunosensor from cortisol Concentrations of 100 μ M to 1pM. The decrease in the magnitude of electrochemical oxidation response can be explained due to the formation of cortisol and anti-cortisol antibody immunocomplex. This hinders the electron transport from the surface of the electrode to the electrolyte. A calibration curve of the current response to the logarithmic cortisol concentration has been plotted in Figure 17. The curve reveals a linear correlation from 100 μ M to 100 pM with a sensitivity of 4.21 μ A/M and the standard deviation of 0.0094. The formula 3xSD/m was used to estimated Limit of detection, which was found to be 6.6nM



Figure 17: Concentration curve of the Cortisol immunosensor showing linear concentration from 10 M to 10 nM samples of cortisol.



Figure 18: Different concentration of cortisol dispersed on the immunosensor and their oxidation response current.
4.5 Conclusion

A label-free immunosensor specific to cortisol using Copper/copper oxide nanoparticles was successfully fabricated on the SPCEs. The fabricated immunosensor was characterized by CV, SEM, and XRD. The sensors were used to detect the different concentration of cortisol with PBS as the electrolyte medium. The sensitivity of the fabricated sensor was determined to be 4.21 μ A/M and the limit of detection 6.6 nM. Though this research enables the label-free immunosensing of cortisol, it has some inherent challenges associated. The Antibodies are temperature dependent and limit the shelf life of the sensors. The cost associated with the fabrication of immunosensors is high due to the expensive nature of antibodies. The next chapter seeks to investigate polymers for electrochemical detection of Cortisol. This new technique aims to make the sensor cost effective, temperature stable and make repeatable measurements possible with the same sensor element.

Chapter 5: BIO-MIMETIC SENSOR FOR LABEL-FREE DETECTION OF CORTISOL USING MOLECULARLY IMPRINTED POLYMERS APPROACH

5.1 Abstract

We report here, an in situ electro-polymerized MIP based electrochemical sensor for the detection of cortisol. Cortisol specific MIP films were prepared by electro-polymerizing pyrrole monomer on the electrode surface in the presence of cortisol as a template molecule. After eluting the cortisol through electrochemical overoxidation, cortisol specific imprinted sites created on the polymeric matrix were used to detect cortisol using a redox mediator Fe(II)/Fe(III). The imprinted matrix was characterized using CV and scanning electron microscopy (SEM). The effect of current responses on electro-polymerization cycle, monomer concentration, elution cycles (target removal), pH of the supporting electrolyte, and rebinding time was investigated and optimized. The MIP based cortisol sensor exhibited a detection limit of 1 pM L⁻¹ cortisol. Moreover, the sensor showed good selectivity and reusability the sensitivity remained >90% after 7 cycles of elution/rebinding, while the sensitivity only decreased to 90% after 4 weeks of storage at room temperature. The reusable MIP sensor has been applied to detect cortisol in real samples and validated with ELISA. These features make the MIP based cortisol sensing attractive for reusable and continuous cortisol monitoring applications.

5.2 Introduction

Current, analytical methods such as ELISA and electrochemical immunosensors are widely used to detect cortisol [77, 83, 113-115]. These analytical techniques involve the use of cortisol specific antibody as a biorecognition element

and provide selective detection of cortisol. However, instability of antibodies, the need for refrigerated transport and storage, and the high cost of producing immunereagents are the severe roadblocks to the commercialization of immunosensor for point-of-care (POC) applications [78, 116]. Therefore, the design and synthesis of artificial receptor systems as stable mimics to the conventional antibodies with high target binding affinity is in demand for diagnostic applications. One technique that is being increasingly adopted for the generation of artificial bioreceptors is molecular imprinting [117, 118].

Molecular imprinting is a technique for creating specific recognition sites in synthetic polymeric matrices that are structurally complementary to target molecules. MIPs are synthetic polymers having recognition sites selective towards the target analyte. They are versatile, stable and cost-effective substitutes for the natural antibodies [119-122]. They have a considerable impact and potential applications in biosensor commercialization owing to their number of merits such as low cost, easy storage, and applicability in harsh conditions. MIPs possess longer lifetimes over the enzymes, antibodies, and proteins [123-126]. Another attractive feature of MIP based biosensor is its reversible binding with the target analyte, which makes the MIP sensors reusable where frequent/continuous monitoring is required.

Traditional polymerization techniques such as bulk polymerization, precipitation polymerization, and emulsion have been widely used for the synthesis of MIPs. However, controlled integration of MIPs onto the transducer surface still remains a challenge. Electrochemical polymerization is an attractive method for patterning MIPs directly onto the surface of biochips. Moreover, the electropolymerization process allows us to control the thickness, morphology, and reproducibility of MIP films by tuning the experimental parameters such as the concentration of target/monomer, polymerization cycles, and applied potential [127-130]. Various electroactive monomers, such as pyrrole, aniline, and ophenylenediamine were explored as potential materials for synthesis MIPs by electropolymerization. Among them, polypyrrole (PPy) based MIP has received interest because of its facile electropolymerization, high conductivity, and stability in ambient conditions [131-133]. In the past years, attempts were made to synthesize MIPs for separation of cortisol [134-136]. However, no attempts were made to obtain an *in situ* fabricated MIPs for the electrochemical detection of cortisol. In this work, for the first time, we report a facile electrochemical strategy to fabricate a stable cortisol MIP sensor using PPy. One of the key aspects in designing reproducible MIP biosensor is controlled removal of template molecule from the polymer matrix. To remove the entrapped template molecule from the polymeric matrix, different strategies have been performed. The first and most straightforward approach is extraction with an appropriate solvent. In some cases, the target extraction involves temperature, microwave, or ultrasonic assisted approaches to increase the rate of extraction. However, these methods cause imprinted cavities to distort and, consequently, makes the MIPs less efficient towards rebinding and selectivity [137]. In the current work, an electrochemical elution approach was performed using CV to extract the cortisol from the polymeric matrix. The effect of electrochemical extraction cycles on the template removal was also investigated.

Moreover, we demonstrate an efficient and fast protocol for removing the template cortisol from the polymeric matrix, which improves the facile fabrication cortisol imprinted biosensor. The biosensor was then applied to detect human salivary cortisol levels, and the results were validated using the ELISA technique.

5.3 Experimental

5.3.1 Materials

Pyrrole monomer (\geq 98%), potassium ferricyanide (K₃[Fe(CN)₆]), potassium ferrocyanide (K₄[Fe(CN)₆]), potassium chloride was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Co., USA. Phosphate buffer solution (PBS) (0.1 M, pH 7.2) was prepared by dissolving 1 tablet in 200 mL of de-ionized (DI) water. A stock solution of cortisol was prepared by dissolving 1 mg of cortisol in 1 mL of ethanol. Working aliquots were prepared by diluting the cortisol stock solution with PBS. A standard stock solution of K₃[Fe(CN)₆])/ K₄[Fe(CN)₆] (5 mM) was prepared in PBS. Cortisol enzyme immunoassay kit was procured from Arbor Assays, MI and a standard protocol were adopted to detect saliva cortisol. In Brief, 50 µl of 4X diluted saliva was used for the detection of cortisol. All other reagents were of analytical grade and solutions were prepared using double distilled water.

5.3.2 Preparation of MIP and non-imprinted polymer (NIP) modified electrodes

Prior to the electrosynthesis of MIP, the SPCE was cleaned to remove organic ink constituents/contaminants and to increase surface roughness. The pre-treatment of the SPCE was carried out by cycling the potential between -1.5 V to 1.5 V at a scan rate of 100 mV/s in 0.1 M H₂SO₄ for 10 cycles [111, 138]. The SPCE was then washed with deionized water and dried at room temperature. The electrosynthesis of MIP films was performed using CV by cycling the potential range between 0 and 0.9 V at a scan rate of 50 mV/s for 10 cycles in 0.1 M PBS containing 0.8 M pyrrole and 0.1 M KCl. 10 mM cortisol was added to the solution as a template molecule before the polymerization. As the polymer matrix grows on the working electrode, cortisol molecules diffuse toward the electrode surface and get entrapped in the polymer matrix.

After the polymerization, polymerization, the entrapped cortisol molecules were extracted from the conducting polymer matrix to produce a surface complementary in shape and functionality to the original template, cortisol. The extraction was performed through over-oxidizing the PPy by cycling the potential range between -0.2 to 0.8 V for 40 cycles in 0.1 M PBS solution. The identical procedure (polymerization followed by overoxidation) was used to fabricate NIP electrode but without adding cortisol as a template. Modified electrodes were then dried under nitrogen flow and stored at room temperature.

5.4 Cortisol sensing using MIP

The electrochemical detection of cortisol by the MIP sensor was performed by placing 5 μ L of an appropriate concentration of cortisol solutions at the working electrode, for 10 min without stirring. The sensors were washed with water to remove any material that may have been absorbed on the surface. Subsequently, the electrochemical measurements were carried out in the presence of 40 μ L of 5 mM K₃[Fe(CN)₆]/K₄[Fe(CN)₆] solution containing 0.1 M PBS at room temperature.

5.5 Results and Discussion

5.5.1 Fabrication of cortisol MIP and NIP electrodes

Formation of cortisol specific MIP films on the electrode surface was achieved by electrochemical polymerization of pyrrole in the presence of cortisol. The polymer growth was monitored through the changes in the current response obtained during polymerization cycles. The voltammograms obtained during electro-polymerization of pyrrole in the absence (dotted lines) and in the presence of cortisol (solid lines), from 0 V to 0.9 V at 50 mV/s using 0.1 M KCl as supporting electrolyte are compared in Fig. 1A. In both the cases, the oxidation currents were increased remarkably at each voltage sweep, suggesting a controlled growth of the polymer, suggesting the thickness of the polymer film can be controlled by the regulating the scan cycles. During the polymerization, cortisol molecules diffuse towards the electrode and bind to the PPy conducting matrix through hydrogen bonding (Scheme 1). Although the two voltammograms look similar in shape, the capacitive currents observed for the electropolymerization in the presence of cortisol (solid lines) is significantly higher than those obtained in its absence (dotted lines). The increased capacitive current of the polymer film in the presence of cortisol confirms the binding of cortisol, an electro-inactive molecule, with the polymer.

Removal of cortisol templates from the polymeric matrix is necessary to form complementary imprinted sites for the subsequent rebinding. The electrochemical over-oxidation process was used to remove cortisol molecules from the PPy matrix.



Figure 19: CV scans taken during the electropolymerization of pyrrole in the absence (dotted lines) and in the presence (solid lines) of 10 mM cortisol onto the SPCE. Scan rate: 50 mV/s.

The polymer matrix was over-oxidized by scanning the potential in a range of -0.2 V to +0.8 V for 40 cycles in 0.1 M PBS at a scan rate of 50 mV/s (Figure 19). For clarity, the initial five scans were shown in Figure 20. During the elution scans, a broad irreversible voltammetric peak was observed at ~ 0.3 V due to the overoxidation of PPy (Li and Qian, 2000). As seen in Figure 20, no cathodic peak was observed during the reverse scan, which indicates that the over-oxidation of PPy is electrochemically irreversible. The above process causes the removal of cortisol from the PPy matrix while oxygen-containing groups, such as carboxyl, are incorporated into the polymer backbone. The decrease in the current response during subsequent scan cycles is due to a decrease in conductivity of the PPy film. Since the over-oxidation was performed here in a neutral condition, the degradation of PPy matrix was avoided. The NIP fabrication process involves the same protocol as used to fabricate MIP (polymerization followed by overoxidation) but without the addition of cortisol as a template.



Figure 20: Recorded voltammograms during the elution of cortisol from the PPy matrix at 0.1 M PBS; scan rate of 50 mV/s.

5.5.2 Electrochemical characterization of cortisol specific MIP

The electrochemical behavior of stepwise fabrication of cortisol MIP sensor was studied in 5 mM K₄[Fe(CN)₆]/K₃[Fe(CN)₆] solution containing 0.1 M PBS. The results are shown in Figure 21. The CVs of $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ redox probe was chosen as a marker to investigate the changes in the electrode behavior after each step of the sensor assembly. As shown in curve (a), well-defined reversible redox peaks for the $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ redox couple were observed with bare SPCE. The PPy modified SPCE showed an apparent increase in the peak current for the redox probe along with the increase in capacitive currents (curve b). This was attributed to the increase in active surface area by conducting PPy matrix on the SPCE surface. The permeability of the porous PPy film is also responsible for the increased electron transport kinetics. $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-1}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-1}$ is an anion; due to the electrostatic interactions, the $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ ions inserts easily into the positively charged PPy film and thus involved in rapid electron transfer kinetics. The peak current response observed for cortisol loaded PPy matrix (curve (c)) was much lower than the one observed for PPy matrix without cortisol (curve (b)). This confirms that cortisol was effectively loaded onto the PPy matrix and hinders the electrochemical response of $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$.

It is interesting to note that, removal of cortisol from the PPy matrix drastically decreases the current response of the redox probe (curve (d)). The voltage induced overoxidation leads to conductivity loss in PPy due to the introduction of carbonyl and carboxyl groups in the polymer backbone. The inset of Figure 21 depicts the enlarged version of the curve d, showing the redox currents observed with the overoxidized PPy matrix.



Figure 21: CV scans of 5 mM K4[Fe(CN)6]/K3[Fe(CN)6] solution at (a) bare SPCE, (b) PPy-SPCE, (c) Cortisol-PPy-SPCE and (d) MIP-PPy-SPCE; scan rate of 50 mVs-1; (Inset: Enlarged version of curve d).

5.5.3 Surface morphological characterization of cortisol MIP electrodes

Surface morphologies of MIP and NIP modified electrodes are obtained at the magnification of x30,000x and are shown in Figure 22(A) shows the SEM image of PPy coated SPCE. After electropolymerization, the surface of the SPCE is coated with a microporous PPy matrix with cauliflower-like structure constituted by micro-spherical grains. The average diameter of the grain is 343.47 nm. When pyrrole was polymerized in the presence of cortisol, an increase in grain size is noted (Figure 22C). The average diameter of the grains increased to 616.32 nm, suggesting the incorporation of cortisol to the polymeric matrix. Overoxidation of PPy matrix

leading to an increase in porosity and decrease in grain size due to the removal of cortisol from the matrix (The average diameter of the grain size is 342.83 nm).



Figure 22: SEM images of (A) PPy-SPCE, (B) Cortisol-PPy-SPCE, (C) MIP-PPy-SPCE, and (D) NIP-PPy-SPCE

For comparison, the SEM image of the NIP modified electrode is given in Figure 22D. As can be seen from the SEM images, the surface of the MIP modified electrode is rough due to cavities of cortisol whereas the surface of the NIP modified electrode is smooth without the imprinting cavities. The distribution of polymer grain size is given in Figure 23.



Figure 23: Polymer grain size distributions observed for (A) PPy-SPCE, (B) Cortisol-PPy-SPCE, (C) MIP-PPy-SPCE, and (d) NIP-PPy-SPCE

5.5.4 Optimization of experimental parameters

The thickness of MIP film is an important factor affecting the film's recognition ability, reproducibility and it could be controlled by tuning the concentration of monomer and a number of polymerization cycles.

5.5.5 *Effect of concentration of pyrrole monomer.*

The effect of monomer concentrations on the electrochemical response of the MIP sensor was investigated. The cortisol MIP electrodes were prepared in solutions of a



Figure 24: Effect of the monomer concentration on the response of the sensor to cortisol



Figure 25: Effect of the different cycles of the electro polymerization of MIP constant concentration of cortisol (10 mM) and different pyrrole concentrations in the range of 0.2 M to 1.2 M (Figure 24). The polymerization and elution of cortisol to form MIP electrodes were followed as mentioned in the previous section. The

fabricated MIP electrodes were then characterized using CV in 5 mM $K_4[Fe(CN)_6]/K_3[Fe(CN)_6]$ solution containing 0.1 M PBS. The current response of the $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ redox probe increased with increase in monomer concentration and reached a maximum value at 0.8 M. The current response then decreased with further increase in the concentration of pyrrole monomer. This behavior can be attributed to the formation of a very thick layer of MIP at higher concentration of monomer which in turn affects the electron transfer of $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ redox couple. Thus, the optimized 0.8 M pyrrole monomer concentration was chosen for the electrochemical polymerization to obtain the highest sensitivity for the determination of cortisol.



Figure 26: Effect of electrochemical extraction cycle on the current response

5.5.6 Effect of number of electropolymerization cycles and rate

Since the thickness of polymer matrix can also be tuned via controlling the number of electro-polymerization cycles, the number of scan cycles used for MIP synthesis was optimized. A series of MIP electrodes were fabricated by following the experimental procedure mentioned in section 2.3 but with a different number of polymerization cycles to find out the optimal number of polymerization cycle. The electrochemical elution of cortisol template from the polymeric matrix was performed using CV as detailed in section 3.1. As shown in Figure 25, the current response of the redox probe $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ reached maximum after the tenth cycle of polymerization, and then decreased with further increase in the number of polymerization cycles. MIP films that were formed at less than 10 scan cycles were found to be thin and less stable at the working electrode whereas higher than 10 cycles formed thicker sensing layer which hinders the electron transfer of $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ reached magis of cortisol on MIP modified electrode implied that the optimum polymerization cycle was to be 10.



Figure 27: concentration Curve after testing the Elute using ELISA

5.5.7 Optimization of the extraction cycle



Figure 28: CV studies of the cortisol MIP sensor as a function of scan rate (50-150 mV/s), inset: magnitude of current response vs. scan rate.

Controlling and enhancing the formation of imprinting sites by regulating the removal of target molecules from the polymeric matrix is essential to fabricate reproducible MIP biosensors. An effective method is needed to regenerate the imprinting sites after the binding event to make the MIP sensors reusable. In this study, voltage induced target removal was performed to create imprinting sites. The electrochemical elution of cortisol template from the polymeric matrix was performed using CV as detailed in section 3.1. To optimize the extraction cycles, different extraction cycles (5-40) were performed on the cortisol embedded PPy modified SPCE. The MIP sensors were characterized after each cycle of target removal, using the redox probe $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$. As the number of elution cycles increases, the current response of the MIP sensor also increases indicating the controlled release of cortisol molecule. The maximum current response of the electrode is obtained at

the 25th cycle (Figure 26). Thus, the extraction cycles were optimized at 25 for complete extraction of the template from the polymeric matrix.

5.5.8 *Effect of binding time and scan rate*



Figure 29: Effect of incubation time on current response of the cortisol MIP

The typical CV curves of the cortisol MIP sensor in $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^4$ redox probe at different scan rates ranging from 50 to 150 50 mV/s were studied and are shown in Figure 28. As is observed in Figure 28, both the cathodic and anodic peak currents were increased with an increase in scan rate from 50 to 150 mV/s. The anodic and cathodic peak currents both are linearly proportional to the square root of the appropriate scan rate, suggesting a diffusion-controlled behavior with an electron transfer process [139].

The effect of the incubation time on the performance of the cortisol MIP sensor was also investigated (Figure 29). After the extraction of cortisol, the MIP sensors were left in contact with a standard solution of 10 pM cortisol for different

incubation times (0-30 min). With increasing incubation time, the current responses of the $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ redox probe decreases and then stabilize when the incubation time is longer than 15 min. Thus, an incubation time of 15 min is adopted in the subsequent work.

5.5.9 Effect of pH

To evaluate the influence of the pH on the performance of the cortisol MIP sensor, the sensor was tested with a series of PBS with different pH, ranging from 5.8 to 7.8 (data not shown). The experimental results show that an increase in pH from 5.8 to 7.2 resulted in an increased peak current of $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ redox probe; further increase in pH resulted in a decrease in peak current. The results showed that the maximum current response occurred at pH 7.2. The optimum pH 7.2 was hence chosen for all the experiments.

5.5.10 Calibration curve of the sensor

The typical CV scans obtained for several concentrations of cortisol in 0.1 M PBS containing five mM $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ using the cortisol MIP sensor at 50 mV/s are shown in **Error! Reference source not found.** The figure depicts the magnitude of electrochemical current response which decreases as a function of increasing cortisol concentration when incubated for 15 min. The decrease in current response is attributed to the binding of cortisol molecules to the MIP sites that hinder electron transport of $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ redox probe. A calibration curve between the magnitude of the current response and logarithm of cortisol concentration has been plotted (inset, **Error! Reference source not found.**). Cathodic peak current observed at -0.35 V was used to plot calibration curves. The current responses to

cortisol obtained with the MIP sensor were linear from 1 pM to 10 μ M (r²=0.9925), with a detection limit of 1 pM.



Figure 31: Electrochemical response studies of MIP-PPy-SPCE as a function of cortisol concentration (1 pM to10 uM) using five mM K4[Fe(CN)6]/K3[Fe(CN)6] solution, inset: calibration curve between the magnitude of response current and logarithm of cortisol concentration



Figure 30: The change in peak current values observed at cortisol MIP (blue) and NIP (red) electrode in the presence of cortisol and other interferents individually each at 100 nM.



Figure 32: Molecular structure of cortisol and its structural analogs prednisolone, progesterone and lactate.

5.5.11 Selectivity, reproducibility, and repeatability

$$\beta = \frac{I_{pa} (MIP \ sensor)}{I_{pa} (NIP \ sensor)}$$
Equation: 3

One of the significant limitations of currently available commercial cortisol immunoassay kits and immunosensors is their cross-reactivity and interference with the cortisol structural analogs viz. progesterone and prednisolone [140, 141]. As recently reviewed by Krasowski and his team, commercially available cortisol immunoassay kits still have cross-reactivity more than 100% with the analogous molecules, especially prednisolone [142]. So, there is a real need to develop an assay for cortisol detection which has lower cross-reactivity with the analogous. Earlier, Ramstorm and his group have evaluated the application of synthetic polymer capable of molecular recognition of cortisol with reduced cross-reactivity [136]. The MIP prepared by this method showed only 36% cross-reactivity with the analog prednisolone. In this work, selectivity assay for cortisol MIP sensor was carried out using three interfering analytes, progesterone, prednisolone, and lactate. The change in peak current values observed at MIP and NIP electrodes in the presence of cortisol and other interferents individually each at 100 nM is shown in Figure 31.

The imprinting factor (β), a measure of the strength of interaction between the target molecule and MIP sensor was calculated according to

$$\beta = \frac{I_{pa} (MIP \ sensor)}{I_{pa} (NIP \ sensor)}$$
Equation: 3

where I_{pa} is the cathodic peak current.

Table 3: Reproducibility experiments of the MIP-PPy-SPCE sensor

Cortisol	MIP	1	2	3	4	5	RSD
sensors							
Current (µA)		30.11	29.61	28.24	30.39	28.59	4.16%

Table 4: Repeatability experiments of the cortisol MIP-PPy-SPCE sensor

Cortisol solutions	1	2	3	4	5	RSD
Current (µA)	28.15	29.10	29.85	30.98	31.80	4.81%

The values of β were 10.25, 1.27, 1.41, and 1.33 for cortisol, lactate, progesterone, and prednisolone respectively. From the values obtained, the MIP sensor shows higher binding capability towards cortisol (maximum β value) over other interferents. The above results revealed that the MIP sensor exhibited higher recognition selectivity toward cortisol. The cross-reactivity percentage was also calculated using the current values. It showed that lactate has very negligible

interference (1.5%) while progesterone (11.4%) and prednisolone (18.3%) have slightly higher cross-reactivity with cortisol detection. The chemical structures of cortisol and other interferents are shown in Figure 32. As can be seen from the figure, prednisolone and progesterone have chemical structures very similar to cortisol and thus interfere with cortisol measurement. However, the percentage of cross-reactivity of the present MIP sensors is much lower than the conventional immunoassay. Even this small percentage of cross-reactivity of the cortisol MIP sensors will be addressed in the future by computational modeling [143].

The controlled fabrication process provided good reproducibility for the MIP sensors. Five sensors were prepared freshly and used to detect the same concentration of cortisol (100 nM). These sensors were used to investigate their reproducibility. Based on the current responses obtained, the relative standard deviation (RSD) was calculated to be as 4.16%, confirming that the sensor had good reproducibility (Table 3). The RSD was determined by five successive measurements of a 100 nM cortisol solution using the same cortisol MIP electrode (i.e., used each time after elution process) and was estimated to be 4.81% (

Table 4). After the binding event, sensors were regenerated by electrochemical elution and were reused to detect cortisol. The experimental results demonstrated that the cortisol MIP sensor could be regenerated seven times; after that, the adhesion of the polymer to the electrode is weakened. The stability of the sensor has been examined by monitoring the current response for 10 nM cortisol solution at regular intervals (2 days) for four weeks. After four weeks, the sensor retained 90% of the current response. Suggesting, that the proposed sensor has acceptable stability.

5.5.12 Analytical applications

To further investigate the feasibility of the newly developed cortisol MIP sensor for clinical analysis, cortisol measurement in human saliva samples were performed. The protocol to detect cortisol using the sensor and ELISA is adopted from our previous work (Pasha et al., 2013). In brief, five µl of saliva samples were placed on the biosensor and were allowed to incubate for 15 min to ensure proper binding. The MIP sensors were then washed using 0.1 M PBS to remove unbound by the recording CV saliva. This was followed scans in 5 mМ K₄[Fe(CN)₆]/K₃[Fe(CN)₆] solution containing 0.1 M PBS. These results obtained using the MIP cortisol sensor and estimation performed using ELISA are comparable (Table 5). These results, therefore, confirm the suitability of the electrode for the real sample applications.

Saliva samples	Salivary Cortisol (ELISA) (µg/dL)	Salivary Cortisol (MIP sensor) (nM/L)		
Sample	0.237	6.75		
Sample 2	0.155	4.32		
Sample 3	0.144	4.13		
Sample 4	0.072	2.16		

 Table 5: Comparison of saliva cortisol estimated using ELISA and cortisol

 MIP sensor.

5.6 Conclusion

In summary, a novel electrochemical sensor for the determination of cortisol was designed for the first time using molecular imprinting technique. The cortisol MIP sensor was created by electropolymerization of pyrrole monomer in the presence of cortisol template, followed by removal of cortisol under optimized conditions. The electrochemistry of $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}/[Fe(CN)_6]^{4-}$ redox probe was used to characterize stepwise fabrication of sensor and detection of cortisol. The sensor response was linear to the cortisol concentration in the range 1 pM to 10 μ M (r²=0.984), with a detection limit of 1 pM. The sensor exhibited good sensitivity, short response time and regenerated seven times. Also, the sensor showed good repeatability, stability, and selectivity, and was applied to detect cortisol in real samples. Despite the advantages of this approach, the use of electrochemical sensing requires complex auxiliary electronics for detection. The output of the system is not a direct readout and has to be correlated to the concentration of the curve by complex calculations. Apart from that, the presence of electrolytic redox species as the label makes it difficult for portable use.

The next chapter will discuss the application of MIP in an EGFET configuration to address the above issues.

Chapter 6: INTEGRATION OF MIP WITH EGFET FOR DIRECT SENSING OF CORTISOL

6.1 Abstract

Electrochemical immunosensing offers a fast and effective method for detection of cortisol. However, it suffers from limitations such as difficulty in implementing label-free sensing. One of the challenges for implementing electrochemical immunosensing is the failure to provide a direct sensing readout for the detected biomolecule. In this chapter, we will address the challenges faced by the electrochemical method. The MIP sensor fabrication reported in the previous chapters will be used in an EGFET configuration to provide label-free and repeatable sensing. The proposed system is easy to implement and is cost effective. The most significant advantage of using this method is the simplicity of the sensing system as it provides a value of current that can be directly related to cortisol concentration. Another advantage of the system is that it requires a simplistic approach to auxiliary electronics. Thus, paving the way for miniaturized sensing devices.

6.2 Introduction

The first semiconductor device in the form of a transistor ushered in a revolution for modern electronics. The days of vacuum tubes were gone, and powerhungry equipment made way for sleek and efficient devices. The development of oxide semiconductor FET further allowed the rapid growth of semiconductor electronics. The MOSFET has been one of the most critical devices for VLSI circuits. This has enabled applications of electronics in control systems, data communication, storage and processing at affordable costs. The effect of electric field on the conductivity of a conducting channel in a semiconductor of the FET defines its current carrying capability (thus the name Field Effect Transistor). MOSFETs, JFET, TFET, etc. are some of the types of FETs that are available. However, despite individual differences, all FETs share a basic underlying principle.

Two heavily doped n-type regions are created in a p-type substrate. These regions serve as source and drain for the device. A thin layer of insulator (generally silicon dioxide is deposited between the source and the drain. This insulating layer is coated with a thin film of metal to serve as a gate contact pad. Metal contacts are layered on top of the source and drain as well.

While in operation, the source is grounded, and a positive voltage applied between the source gate (Vgs). The application of a Vgs causes an accumulation of electrons between the source and drain regions. These accumulated electrons start to form a conducting channel. Vgs determine the thickness of this channel. Now the application of a drain voltage causes a current to flow between the drain and the source. The magnitude of this current is dependent on the resistance of the channel which in turn is dependent on the gate voltage.

The following equation can express the magnitude of drain current.

$$I_d = \beta (V_{gs} - V_T - \frac{1}{2}V_{ds})V_{ds}I_d$$
 Equation 5

Where V_T is known as the threshold voltage. The threshold voltage is the value of Vgs beyond which the narrow conduction channel starts forming.

 β is the trans-conductance parameter and expressed as

$$\beta = \mu C_{ox} \frac{W}{L}$$
 Equation 6

 β is a function of the mobility of the electrons (μ) in the inversion layer, the gate insulator capacitance per area (C_{ox}) and the channel width to length ratio (W/L).

A closer look at the trans-conductance parameter shows the linearity of the FET device. As the Vds is increased, the current Id through the channel increases. Effectively the FET behaves as a resistor whose resistance can be calculated by the slope of the line from Vd vs. Id curves.

However, the channel width is uniform for small values of Vds. As Vds is increased, the channel becomes narrower near the drain as compared to the source; this results in the rolling of Id vs. Vd curve as shown in the figure below.

These properties of FET were first utilized by Bergveld et al. electrophysiological applications resulting in a Configuration Called ISFET. With this pioneering work, ISFET based sensors gained focus in the rapidly growing field of biosensors and were utilized in several different ways. Fast response time, high sensitivity, batch processing and the possibility of integrating on a single chip have pushed FET sensors in the forefront of sensing technology.

6.3 EGFET

The EGFET is based on the principle of an ion sensitive FET. The ISFET consists of a gate insulator, where the electrolyte can be immobilized. Instead of having a direct metal contact on the gate, an external electrode dips in the electrolyte.

In the presence of a constant external gate voltage, a change in the concentration of the ions present in the electrolyte can cause a potential change at the surface of the gate insulator. The potential change, in turn, is responsible for the modulation of the drain-source current in the FET. By using this configuration of ISFET, biosensing applications are made possible. This is possible by immobilizing bio sensitive moieties on the gate insulator surface. However, this configuration can destroy the device due to often harsh chemical nature of the electrolytes used. The EGFETS avoid this problem by isolating the chemical environment from the FET itself. The system consists of an external functionalized substrate that is connecte4d to the gate as shown in the figure below. The substrate has a well that limits the electrolyte volume. The external electrode touches the electrolyte, and a gate voltage is applied across it. The interaction between the ions present in the electrolyte and the functional group present on the extended gate substrate causes a surface potential change. This change of potential causes a change in the flow of current to the gate of the FET. In turn, the gate current modulates the Drain-Source currents.

The Modulation of drain current due to the presence of biomolecules on the surface of the extended gate makes it possible to use the FET as a biosensor. This configuration also allows for the stabilization of FET by isolating it from changes happening due to light and temperature variations as the gate material is not directly exposed to the environment. In this research, we will be using EGFET configuration along with molecularly imprinted polymers for the sensing of Cortisol.

This configuration will result in a system that provides a direct output as a change in drain current due to variation in cortisol concentration. An SPCE was used to fabricate MIP specific to cortisol. We report the fabrication and characterization of MIP in detail in previous chapters.

6.4 Materials and methods

The SPCE was a three-electrode system with an Ag/AgCL reference and two Carbon electrodes. It was purchased from Zensor was used for the construction of MIP biosensor. The thiol-based crosslinker, DTSP, and NaBH4 were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific. Copper (II) Chloride (CuCl2), KCl and NaOH, used for deposition of copper nanoparticles were obtained from Sigma Aldrich. The buffer solution used for characterization was prepared from NaH2PO4 and Na2HPO4. These chemicals were also purchased from Sigma Aldrich. All the chemicals were of analytical grade and were used without further purification. The commercial prepackaged FET IC (CD4007ube) was purchased from Texas Instruments.

6.5 Fabrication of EGFET sensor

Formation of MIP on the SPCE – the fabrication and characterization of the MIP modified SPCE surface has been detailed in the previous chapter. The MIP electrode was connected to the gate of the FET sensor as shown in Figure 33 below. The gate of the FET was connected to the working electrode of the SPCE. The gate voltage source was connected to the Reference electrode of the SPCE. The source and drain were grounded and connected to the power source respectively. The output and transfer characteristics of the FET (CD4007UB) were measured using the Keithley 4200 source meter. The output and transfer characteristics were measured by connecting the gate directly to the Vg power supply and varying the gate voltage. After establishing the baseline measurements of the transistor, measurements were made with 50 μ L of PBS with different pH values. Subsequent measurements were made in PBS solution (7.6pH) after incubating different cortisol concentrations on the MIP modified, extended gate.





Figure 33: Scheme of the EGFET - MIP based sensing system



Figure 34: current response of the EGFET after the addition of PBS at different pH Values.

6.6 Results and Discussions

The system was first tested without the extended gate to compare the output and transfer characteristics as described in the Datasheet. The MIP modified, extended gate was then connected to the FET and output characteristics were repeated with different pH solutions of PBS.

6.6.1 Study of pH response of the sensor

To evaluate the MIP EGFET sensor, it was tested with a series of PBS solution with different pH values. The gate voltage was kept constant at 5V for this study. The response of the system indicates that the current drops as the pH value change from more neutral to a hydrogen-rich environment at pH 5.5, indicating the formation of an ionic double layer. With lower pH values, the no of H+ ions in the solution is higher. This causes a stronger charge interaction at the surface of the MIP. This interaction results in a lower gate voltage. Thus, a lower drain current. The highest response was obtained when PBS solution of pH 7.6 was used. This value is closer to the pH of the biological system. Subsequent experiments were performed



Figure 35: Output characteristics of the EGFET after adding different cortisol concentrations at a constant gate voltage of 5V

using the same.

6.6.2 Drain current response of the sensor with respect to different cortisol concentrations

Cortisol stock solution was prepared by dissolving Lyophilized Cortisol powder in Ethanol and PBS solution of pH~7.4. The stock solution was then diluted to obtain different cortisol concentrations. The MIP modified electrode was incubated with 10 μ L of cortisol for 30 minutes. It was then washed away with DI water and dried with nitrogen. 50 μ L of PBS was then dispensed on the electrode, and the I-V measurements were made then. Figure 35 And Figure 36 shows the output characteristics of different cortisol concentrations immobilized on the MIP modified, extended gate. The Drain-source voltage was swept while the Gate voltage was kept



Figure 36: Different cortisol concentration at a lower gate voltage(1V). The reduction in drain current with increasing cortisol can be hypothesized due to cortisol molecules occupying empty sites in the MIP matrix and reducing electron transport in the polymer matrix. The reduced gate current, causes a reduction in the accumulated charges at the actual gate. Thus, causing a decrease in source drain current due to the reduced gate voltage.

at 5 Volt and 1 Volt respectively.

Figure 35 And Figure 36, shows a decrease in drain current can be observed as cortisol concentration increases. The cortisol molecules occupy the empty sites in the polymer matrix. The occupation of conductive sites by cortisol causes a change in the interaction of charge carrier with the polymer surface. The change in surface charges restricts the flow of current across the MIP thin film. The reduced current, in effect, decreases the electron density in the gate region of the n-type MOSFET working in enhancement mode. This change in Drain current due to increased cortisol concentration was used for sensing purpose [144].

Figure 37 shows the concentration curve for cortisol as plotted from the Vd vs. Id data obtained in Figure 36. Drain current values at 2 Volts were chosen and plotted against their respective concentration on a logarithmic scale.



Figure 37: The concentration curve of the EGFET device from 1 pM to 100 nM cortisol concentration vs. the current measured at 2 Volts Vd and 1Volt Vgs



Figure 38: Vgs-Id curve of the EGFET-MIP device at different cortisol concentrations. The drain voltage was kept as 1V

6.7 Conclusions

MIP based EGFET sensors were fabricated in this chapter. The MIP cortisol sensor fabricated on SPCE in the previous chapter was used for this research. The working electrode was connected to the gate of the FET and the Ag/AgCl reference electrode was supplied with a gate voltage using an external power supply. The EGFET could detect the changes in PBS solutions of Different Concentrations. It was also able to detect the various concentration of Cortisol in PBS solution. The Limit of detection of this sensor was found to be 1 pM. The fabricated sensor paves the way for label-free, fast, low cost and direct sensing of cortisol. This work has potential applications in POC sensing of cortisol.

Chapter 7: SUMMARY AND FUTURE WORK

7.1 Summary

The POC sensors are essential tools for providing healthcare and offer accurate, timely, affordable and manageable diagnostics of targeted diseases. This research aimed to explore different methodologies for sensing cortisol that would enable fast, selective, sensitive, label-free and temperature stable sensors. Thin Filmbased electrochemical immunosensors were fabricated using self-assembled monolayer functionalized by the anti-cortisol antibody. These sensors were validated against Standard ELISA process using human saliva samples. The developed system was fast, reliable and utilized electrochemical approach towards sense. However, it suffered from some shortcomings. A redox label is required for making electrochemical measurements. The sensors were sensitive to temperature variations, and the system provided indirect output.

Further research in Nanomaterial modified electrode for label-free sensing was conducted. Copper/Copper oxide nanoparticles were fabricated on SPCE. These nanomodified electrodes were used to fabricate immunosensors specific to cortisol. The significant advantage of using this methodology was the avoidance of a Redox medium for electrochemical measurements. The fabricated immunosensors had a linear correlation from 100 μ M to 100 pM (cortisol concentration) with a sensitivity of 4.21 μ A/M and the standard deviation of 0.0094. The estimated Limit of detection was found to be 6.6 nM. However, the sensing system was still plagued with temperature instability. The detecting moieties (antibodies and enzymes) were sensitive to temperature changes and were denatured easily at higher than room temperatures. A biomimetic sensor based on molecular imprinted polymer (polypyrrole) was explored at this for cortisol detection to mitigate this challenge. The MIP based sensors were cheap to fabricate, temperature stable, gave label-free detection and were reusable. The performance of the resulting sensors was comparable to those of commercially available technologies (ELISA). The MIP sensors were fabricated on SPCE and biosensing of cortisol was demonstrated using CV. Though CV is a viable technique for POC biosensing, it does not provide a direct readout. A much simpler system is reported where MIP is along with a FET in an extended gate configuration. This system was easy to construct, can be ported to miniaturized electronics and can provide a direct readout. In this last study, cortisol of different concentration was detected in a label-free setting to pave the way for truly miniaturized reusable, cheap, fast and accurate biosensing system for POC. The performance of all the sensors fabricated in this study is summarised in Table 6 below. The MIP-EGFET sensor meets all the criteria in the table that makes it the best candidate to explore POC/wearable sensors for detection of Cortisol.

	SAM based	Cu/CuO	MIP based	MIP-
	Electrochemical	Nanomodified	Electrochemical	EGFET
	immunosensor	Electrochemical	Sensor	sensor
		immunosensor		
Sensing	Cortisol specific	Cortisol specific	MIP	MIP
element	Monoclonal	Monoclonal		
	Antibodies	Antibodies		
Mode of	CV	CV	CV	EGFET
detection				
Label free	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Reusable	No	No	Yes	Yes
Direct	No	No	No	Yes
readout				
Selective to	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table 6: Comparison of Cortisol sensors fabricated during this research
Cortisol				
Limit of detection for cortisol	10 pg/mL	0.002 pg/mL	0.0004 pg/mL	0.0004 pg/mL

7.2 Future work

This research has validated techniques and methods which has potential application for POC sensing of cortisol (a vital Steroid Biomarker for detection of stress). This work focused on addressing critical issues that face sensing systems for POC application. There are still challenges that require addressing before a commercially viable system is available. The molecularly Imprinted Technique is a promising technique for biosensing application. However, there is much room for improvement regarding having an extremely selective polymer.

The selectivity of the MIP can be improved by computationally exploring the interaction between the polymer and the bioanalyte.

The Simulation studies of different binding sites at the polymer can be useful for better understanding of loading/elution mechanism of the target molecule. Computationally exploring the energy required for effective removal of the target molecule without affecting the molecular backbone etc.

At the device end, the EGFET configuration is promising. It can be incorporated with miniaturized electronics to provide a direct readout in handheld or wearable device form and integrated with MIP based sensing electrodes.

REFERENCES

- [1] Cepheiden, "Thin-film transistor variants EN," ed, 2009.
- [2] M. Irimia-Vladu, *et al.*, "Biocompatible and Biodegradable Materials for Organic Field-Effect Transistors," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 20, pp. 4069-4076, 2010.
- [3] E. Katz and I. Willner, "Biomolecule-Functionalized Carbon Nanotubes: Applications in Nanobioelectronics," *ChemPhysChem*, vol. 5, pp. 1084-1104, 2004.
- [4] A. Kaushik, *et al.*, "Mediator and label free estimation of stress biomarker using electrophoretically deposited Ag@AgO–polyaniline hybrid nanocomposite," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 50, pp. 35-41, 2013.
- [5] I. Park, *et al.*, "Towards the silicon nanowire-based sensor for intracellular biochemical detection," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 22, pp. 2065-2070, 2007.
- [6] S. K. Pasha, *et al.*, "Electrochemical Immunosensing of Saliva Cortisol," *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, vol. 161, pp. B3077-B3082, 2013.
- [7] F. Ricci, *et al.*, "A review of experimental aspects of electrochemical immunosensors," *Electrochimica Acta*, vol. 84, pp. 74-83, 2012.
- [8] Y. Wan, *et al.*, "Development of electrochemical immunosensors towards point of care diagnostics," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 47, pp. 1-11, 2013.
- [9] M. S. Tswett, "On a new category of adsorption phenomena and on its application to biochemical analysis," *Proceedings of the Warsaw Society of Naturalists*, vol. 14, pp. 20-39, 1905.
- [10] E. N. Domínguez, A., Ed., *Biosensors and Modern Biospecific Analytical Techniques* (Comprehensive Analytical Chemistry 44). Amsterdam: Elsevier, 2005, p.^pp. Pages.
- [11] M. Frasconi, *et al.*, "Surface plasmon resonance immunosensor for cortisol and cortisone determination," *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, vol. 394, pp. 2151-2159, 2009.
- [12] J. Lewis and P. Elder, "An enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for plasma cortisol," *Journal of steroid biochemistry*, vol. 22, pp. 673-676, 1985.
- [13] H. J. RUDER, et al., "A radioimmunoassay for cortisol in plasma and urine," Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, vol. 35, pp. 219-224, 1972.

- [14] R. Tilden, "New, advantageous approach to the direct radioimmunoassay of cortisol," *Clinical chemistry*, vol. 23, pp. 211-215, 1977.
- [15] U. Turpeinen, *et al.*, "Determination of urinary free cortisol by HPLC," *Clinical chemistry*, vol. 43, pp. 1386-1391, 1997.
- [16] M. Yaneva, *et al.*, "Midnight salivary cortisol, measured by highly sensitive electrochemiluminescence immunoassay, for the diagnosis of Cushing's syndrome," *Central European Journal of Medicine*, vol. 4, pp. 59-64, 2009.
- [17] X.-D. Yang, *et al.*, "Time-resolved fluorescence immunoassay with measurement of a europium chelate in solution: dissociation conditions and application for determination of cortisol," *Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 66, pp. 2590-2594, 1994.
- [18] C. L. C. and L. Champ, "ELECTRODE SYSTEMS FOR CONTINUOUS MONITORING IN CARDIOVASCULAR SURGERY," Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, vol. 102, pp. 29-45, 1962.
- [19] marketandmarkets.com, "Point-of-Care/Rapid Diagnostics Market by Testing (Glucose, Lipids, HbA1c, HCV, HIV, Influenza, Urinalysis, Hematology, Cancer, Pregnancy, PT/INR), Platform (Lateral Flow, Immunoassay), Mode (Prescription, OTC), End-User - Global Forecast to 2022," 2018.
- [20] (2018). *Chronic diseases and health promotion*. Available: http://www.who.int/chp/about/integrated_cd/en/
- [21] M. D. Corbalán-Tutau, *et al.*, "Daily profile in two circadian markers "melatonin and cortisol" and associations with Metabolic Syndrome components," *Physiology & Behavior*, 2012.
- [22] N. A. Nicolson, "Measurement of cortisol," *Handbook of physiological research methods in health psychology*, pp. 37-74, 2008.
- [23] B. S. McEwen, "Cortisol, Cushing's Syndrome, and a Shrinking Brain—New Evidence for Reversibility," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 87, pp. 1947-1948, 2002.
- [24] M. J. E. Ron de Kloet, Florian Holsboer "Stress, and the brain: from adaptation to disease," *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 6, p. 13, 2005.
- [25] R. Gatti, *et al.*, "Cortisol assays and diagnostic laboratory procedures in human biological fluids," *Clinical Biochemistry*, vol. 42, pp. 1205-1217, 2009.
- [26] A. Levine, *et al.*, "Measuring cortisol in human psychobiological studies," *Physiology & Behavior*, vol. 90, pp. 43-53, 2007.
- [27] O. Edwards, *et al.*, "CHANGES IN CORTISOL METABOLISM FOLLOWING RIFAMPICIN THERAPY," *The Lancet*, vol. 304, pp. 549-551, 1974.

- [28] F. Holsboer and M. Ising, "Stress hormone regulation: biological role and translation into therapy," *Annual review of psychology*, vol. 61, pp. 81-109, 2010.
- [29] Z. Djuric, *et al.*, "Biomarkers of Psychological Stress in Health Disparities Research," *The Open Biomarkers Journal*, vol. 1, pp. 7-19, 2008.
- [30] R. Fulford and G. Stone, *Dr. Fulford's Touch of Life: The Healing Power of the Natural Life Force*: Gallery Books, 1997.
- [31] C. W. le Roux, *et al.*, "Free cortisol index is better than serum total cortisol in determining hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal status in patients undergoing surgery," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 88, pp. 2045-2048, 2003.
- [32] B. J. Klopfenstein, *et al.*, "Determination of cortisol production rates with contemporary liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry to measure cortisold3 dilution after infusion of deuterated tracer," *Clinical Biochemistry*, vol. 44, pp. 430-434, 2011.
- [33] L.-Q. Chen, *et al.*, "Application of nanofiber-packed SPE for determination of salivary-free cortisol using fluorescence precolumn derivatization and HPLC detection," *Journal of Separation Science*, vol. 33, pp. 2369-2375, 2010.
- [34] W. Gao, *et al.*, "HPLC-FLU detection of cortisol distribution in human hair," *Clinical Biochemistry*, vol. 43, pp. 677-682, 2010.
- [35] D. Appel, et al., "A fluorimetric assay for cortisol," Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, vol. 383, pp. 182-186, 2005.
- [36] M. O. van Aken, *et al.*, "Automated Measurement of Salivary Cortisol," *Clinical chemistry*, vol. 49, pp. 1408-1409, August 1, 2003.
- [37] C. Carrozza, *et al.*, "Clinical accuracy of midnight salivary cortisol measured by automated electrochemiluminescence immunoassay method in Cushing's syndrome," *Annals of clinical biochemistry*, vol. 47, pp. 228-232, 2010.
- [38] G. Lippi, *et al.*, "Measurement of morning saliva cortisol in athletes," *Clinical Biochemistry*, vol. 42, pp. 904-906, 2009.
- [39] H. Shi, *et al.*, "Determination of cortisol in human blood sera by a new Ag(III) complex–luminol chemiluminescent system," *Analytical Biochemistry*, vol. 387, pp. 178-183, 2009.
- [40] L. Manenschijn, *et al.*, "Evaluation of a method to measure long term cortisol levels," *Steroids*, vol. 76, pp. 1032-1036, 2011.
- [41] M. Shimada, *et al.*, "Determination of salivary cortisol by ELISA and its application to the assessment of the circadian rhythm in children," *Hormone Research in Paediatrics*, vol. 44, pp. 213-217, 1995.

- [42] B. C. Small and K. B. Davis, "Validation of a Time-Resolved Fluoroimmunoassay for Measuring Plasma Cortisol in Channel Catfish Ictalurus punctatus," *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, vol. 33, pp. 184-187, 2007.
- [43] J. S. Mitchell, *et al.*, "Rapid ultrasensitive measurement of salivary cortisol using nano-linker chemistry coupled with surface plasmon resonance detection," *Analyst*, vol. 134, pp. 380-386, 2008.
- [44] D. R. Shankaran, *et al.*, "Recent advancements in surface plasmon resonance immunosensors for detection of small molecules of biomedical, food and environmental interest," *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, vol. 121, pp. 158-177, 2007.
- [45] R. C. Stevens, *et al.*, "Detection of Cortisol in Saliva with a Flow-Filtered, Portable Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensor System," *Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 80, pp. 6747-6751, 2008/09/01 2008.
- [46] M. Z. Atashbar, *et al.*, "QCM biosensor with ultra thin polymer film," *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, vol. 107, pp. 945-951, 2005.
- [47] C. A. Czeisler, *et al.*, "Episodic 24-hour cortisol secretory patterns in patients awaiting elective cardiac surgery," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 42, pp. 273-283, 1976.
- [48] P. R. Brezina, *et al.*, "At home testing: optimizing management for the infertility physician," *Fertility and Sterility*, vol. 95, pp. 1867-1878, 2011.
- [49] J. Brossaud, *et al.*, "Urinary cortisol metabolites in corticotroph and adrenal tumours," in *Endocrine Abstracts*, 2012, p. P55.
- [50] M. Venugopal, *et al.*, "Clinical Evaluation of a Novel Interstitial Fluid Sensor System for Remote Continuous Alcohol Monitoring," *Sensors Journal, IEEE*, vol. 8, pp. 71-80, 2008.
- [51] M. Venugopal, *et al.*, "A realtime and continuous assessment of cortisol in ISF using electrochemical impedance spectroscopy," *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 172, pp. 154-160, 2011.
- [52] A. El-Laboudi, *et al.*, "Use of Microneedle Array Devices for Continuous Glucose Monitoring: A Review," *Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics*, vol. 15, pp. 101-115, 2013.
- [53] M. R. Prausnitz, "Microneedles for transdermal drug delivery," *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, vol. 56, pp. 581-587, 2004.
- [54] P. Khanna, *et al.*, "Microneedle-Based Automated Therapy for Diabetes Mellitus," *Journal of Diabetes Science Technology*, vol. 2, pp. 1122-1129, 2008.

- [55] E. V. Mukerjee, *et al.*, "Microneedle array for transdermal biological fluid extraction and in situ analysis," *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 114, pp. 267-275, 2004.
- [56] P. M. Wang, *et al.*, "Minimally Invasive Extraction of Dermal Interstitial Fluid for Glucose Monitoring Using Microneedles," *Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics*, vol. 7, pp. 131-141, 2005.
- [57] H. Prunty, *et al.*, "Sweat patch cortisol-a new screen for Cushing's syndrome," in *Endocrine Abstracts*, 2004, p. P202.
- [58] E. Russell, *et al.*, "The Detection of Cortisol in Human Sweat: Implications for Measurement of Cortisol in Hair," *Endocrine Reviews*, vol. 33, 2012.
- [59] S. Xing, *et al.*, "Interfacial microfluidic transport on micropatterned superhydrophobic textile," *Lab on a Chip*, vol. 13, pp. 1937-1947, 2013.
- [60] C. Le Roux, *et al.*, "Free cortisol index is better than serum total cortisol in determining hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal status in patients undergoing surgery," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 88, pp. 2045-2048, 2003.
- [61] M. VanBruggen, *et al.*, "The relationship between serum and salivary cortisol levels in response to different intensities of exercise," *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, vol. 6, p. 396, 2011.
- [62] U. Teruhisa, *et al.*, "Use of saliva for monitoring unbound free cortisol levels in serum," *Clinica Chimica Acta*, vol. 110, pp. 245-253, 1981.
- [63] E. Van Caenegem, *et al.*, "Salivary cortisol and testosterone: a comparison of salivary sample collection methods in healthy controls," in *Endocrine Abstracts*, 2011, p. P355.
- [64] D. Price, *et al.*, "Age of appearance of circadian rhythm in salivary cortisol values in infancy," *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, vol. 58, pp. 454-456, 1983.
- [65] H. Raff, *et al.*, "Late-night salivary cortisol as a screening test for Cushing's syndrome," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 83, pp. 2681-2686, 1998.
- [66] K. Løvås, *et al.*, "Saliva cortisol measurement: simple and reliable assessment of the glucocorticoid replacement therapy in Addison's disease," *Journal of endocrinological investigation*, vol. 29, p. 727, 2006.
- [67] A. Granger, *et al.*, "Effects of Physical Stress and Maturational Changes on Hypothalamic Pituitary Adrenal Axis Function Through Cortisol Analysis," 2012.

- [68] L. L. Carpenter, *et al.*, "Effect of childhood physical abuse on cortisol stress response," *Psychopharmacology*, vol. 214, pp. 367-375, 2011.
- [69] A. Kaushik, *et al.*, "Nanocomposites based on chitosan-metal/metal oxides hybrids for biosensors applications," *Journal of Nanoscience Letters J. Nanosci. Lett*, vol. 3, p. 32, 2013.
- [70] A. Kaushik, *et al.*, "Recent Advances in Cortisol Sensing Technologies for Point-of-Care Application," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*.
- [71] C. Loncaric, *et al.*, "A USB-based electrochemical biosensor prototype for point-of-care diagnosis," *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, vol. 161, pp. 908-913, 2012.
- [72] P. B. Lillehoj, *et al.*, "Rapid electrochemical detection on a mobile phone," *Lab on a Chip*, vol. 13, pp. 2950-2955, 2013.
- [73] S. K. Arya, et al., "Dithiobis(succinimidyl propionate) modified gold microarray electrode based electrochemical immunosensor for ultrasensitive detection of cortisol," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 25, pp. 2296-2301, 2010.
- [74] A. Vasudev, *et al.*, "An LTCC-based microfluidic system for label-free, electrochemical detection of cortisol," *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, vol. 182, pp. 139-146, 2013.
- [75] M. Yamaguchi, *et al.*, "Immunosensor with fluid control mechanism for salivary cortisol analysis," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 41, pp. 186-191, 2013.
- [76] R. S. Yalow and S. A. Berson, "Immunoassay of endogenous plasma insulin in man," *The Journal of clinical investigation*, vol. 39, pp. 1157-1175, 1960.
- [77] A. Kaushik, *et al.*, "Recent advances in cortisol sensing technologies for pointof-care application," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 53, pp. 499-512, 2014.
- [78] A. F. D. Cruz, *et al.*, "A low-cost miniaturized potentiostat for point-of-care diagnosis," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 62, pp. 249-254, 2014.
- [79] K. Sun, *et al.*, "An immunoelectrochemical sensor for salivary cortisol measurement," *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, vol. 133, pp. 533-537, 2008.
- [80] S. K. Arya, *et al.*, "Antibody functionalized interdigitated μ-electrode (IDμE) based impedimetric cortisol biosensor," *The Analyst*, vol. 135, p. 1941, 2010.
- [81] S. K. Arya, *et al.*, "Antibody modified gold micro array electrode based electrochemical immunosensor for ultrasensitive detection of cortisol in saliva and ISF," *Procedia Engineering*, vol. 5, pp. 804-807, 2010.

- [82] A. E. Cass, *et al.*, "Ferrocene-mediated enzyme electrode for amperometric determination of glucose," *Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 56, pp. 667-671, 1984.
- [83] S. K. Pasha, et al., "Electrochemical Immunosensing of Saliva Cortisol," Journal of The Electrochemical Society, vol. 161, pp. B3077-B3082, January 1, 2014 2014.
- [84] M. A. Cooper, "Label-free screening of bio-molecular interactions," *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, vol. 377, pp. 834-842, 2003.
- [85] B. S. Attili and A. A. Suleiman, "A Piezoelectric Immunosensor for the Detection of Cortisol," *Analytical Letters*, vol. 28, pp. 2149-2159, 1995/09/01 1995.
- [86] L. J. Edgar, "Method and apparatus for controlling electric currents," ed: Google Patents, 1930.
- [87] D. Kahng and M. Atalla, "IRE solid-state devices research conference," *Carnegie Institute of Technology, Pittsburgh, PA*, 1960.
- [88] W. E. Bowen, "THIN FILM ELECTRONICS BASED ON ZNO AND ZNO/MGZNO HETEROJUNCTIONS," Doctor of Philosophy, Electrical Engineering, The University of Michigan, 2010.
- [89] P. Weimer, *et al.*, "A 180-stage integrated thin-film scan generator," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 54, pp. 354-360, 1966.
- [90] M. J. Powell, "The physics of amorphous-silicon thin-film transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 36, pp. 2753-2763, 1989.
- [91] P. Bergveld, "Development of an ion-sensitive solid-state device for neurophysiological measurements," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, pp. 70-71, 1970.
- [92] M. J. Kiani, *et al.*, "Graphene Based-Biosensor: Graphene Based Electrolyte Gated Graphene Field Effect Transistor," in *Handbook of Research on Nanoelectronic Sensor Modeling and Applications*, ed: IGI Global, 2017, pp. 265-293.
- [93] N. Vieira, *et al.*, "Self-assembled films of dendrimers and metallophthalocyanines as FET-based glucose biosensors," *Sensors*, vol. 11, pp. 9442-9449, 2011.
- [94] S. Sharma, *et al.*, "An integrated silicon sensor with microfluidic chip for monitoring potassium and pH," *Microfluidics and nanofluidics*, vol. 10, pp. 1119-1125, 2011.
- [95] L.-T. Yin, *et al.*, "Separate structure extended gate H+-ion sensitive field effect transistor on a glass substrate," *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, vol. 71, pp. 106-111, 2000/11/15/ 2000.

- [96] E. Aardal and A.-C. Holm, "Cortisol in saliva-reference ranges and relation to cortisol in serum," *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, vol. 33, pp. 927-932, 1995.
- [97] A. Vasudev, *et al.*, "An LTCC-based microfluidic system for label-free, electrochemical detection of cortisol," *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, vol. 182, pp. 139-146, 2013.
- [98] A. Kumar, *et al.*, "Ultrasensitive detection of cortisol with enzyme fragment complementation technology using functionalized nanowire," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 22, pp. 2138-2144, 2007.
- [99] S. K. Arya, *et al.*, "Polyaniline protected gold nanoparticles based mediator and label free electrochemical cortisol biosensor," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 28, pp. 166-173, 2011.
- [100] K. Fujiwara, *et al.*, "Urinary catecholamines and salivary cortisol on workdays and days off in relation to job strain among female health care providers," *Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health*, pp. 129-138, 2004.
- [101] G. Lac and A. Chamoux, "Elevated salivary cortisol levels as a result of sleep deprivation in a shift worker," *Occupational medicine*, vol. 53, pp. 143-145, 2003.
- [102] N. Lamond, *et al.*, "The impact of a week of simulated night work on sleep, circadian phase, and performance," *Occupational and environmental medicine*, vol. 60, pp. e13-e13, 2003.
- [103] S. C. Carvajal, *et al.*, "Stress and Sociocultural Factors Related to Health Status Among US–Mexico Border Farmworkers," *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, pp. 1-7, 2013.
- [104] J. Fischer, *et al.*, "Objectifying psychomental stress in the workplace–an example," *International archives of occupational and environmental health*, vol. 73, pp. S46-S52, 2000.
- [105] U. Lundberg and B. Hellström, "Workload and morning salivary cortisol in women," Work & Stress, vol. 16, pp. 356-363, 2002.
- [106] D. Mangold, *et al.*, "Acculturation, childhood trauma and the cortisol awakening response in Mexican–American adults," *Hormones and behavior*, vol. 58, pp. 637-646, 2010.
- [107] D. Mangold, *et al.*, "The cortisol awakening response predicts subclinical depressive symptomatology in Mexican American adults," *Journal of psychiatric research*, vol. 45, pp. 902-909, 2011.
- [108] A. Cecchi, *et al.*, "Environmental exposure to organophosphate pesticides: Assessment of endocrine disruption and hepatotoxicity in pregnant women," *Ecotoxicology and environmental safety*, vol. 80, pp. 280-287, 2012.

- [109] V. Anandan, *et al.*, "Nanopillar array structures for enhancing biosensing performance," *International journal of nanomedicine*, vol. 1, p. 73, 2006.
- [110] T. J. Kindt and J. Kuby, *Kuby immunology*: Macmillan, 2007.
- [111] M. Pandiaraj, et al., "Designing label-free electrochemical immunosensors for cytochrome c using nanocomposites functionalized screen printed electrodes," *Biosensors & bioelectronics*, vol. 54, pp. 115-21, 2014.
- [112] A. Vasudev, et al., "Electrochemical immunosensor for label free epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) detection," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 39, pp. 300-305, 2013/01/15/ 2013.
- [113] S. Choi, *et al.*, "Real-time measurement of human salivary cortisol for the assessment of psychological stress using a smartphone," *Sensing and Bio-Sensing Research*, vol. 2, pp. 8-11, 2014.
- [114] P. K. Vabbina, et al., "Electrochemical cortisol immunosensors based on sonochemically synthesized zinc oxide 1D nanorods and 2D nanoflakes," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 63, pp. 124-130, 2015.
- [115] M. Yamaguchi, *et al.*, "Automated-immunosensor with centrifugal fluid valves for salivary cortisol measurement," *Sensing and Bio-Sensing Research*, vol. 1, pp. 15-20, 2014.
- [116] A. Kaushik, *et al.*, "Electrochemical sensing method for point-of-care cortisol detection in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients," *International journal of nanomedicine*, vol. 10, pp. 677-85, 2015.
- [117] K. Haupt and K. Mosbach, "Molecularly imprinted polymers and their use in biomimetic sensors," *Chemical reviews*, vol. 100, pp. 2495-504, 2000.
- [118] M. J. Whitcombe, *et al.*, "The rational development of molecularly imprinted polymer-based sensors for protein detection," *Chemical Society reviews*, vol. 40, pp. 1547-71, 2011.
- [119] D. Cai, *et al.*, "A molecular-imprint nanosensor for ultrasensitive detection of proteins," *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 5, pp. 597-601, 2010.
- [120] Y. Li, *et al.*, "Molecularly imprinted polymer decorated nanoporous gold for highly selective and sensitive electrochemical sensors," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 5, pp. 7699-7699, 2015.
- [121] A. Poma, *et al.*, "Advances in the manufacture of MIP nanoparticles," *Trends in Biotechnology*, vol. 28, pp. 629-637, 2010.
- [122] E. Turiel and A. Martín-Esteban, "Molecularly imprinted polymers for sample preparation: A review," *Analytica Chimica Acta*, vol. 668, pp. 87-99, 2010.

- [123] W. J. Cheong, *et al.*, "Recent applications of molecular imprinted polymers for enantio-selective recognition," *Talanta*, vol. 106, pp. 45-59, 2013.
- [124] I. Chianella, *et al.*, "Direct replacement of antibodies with molecularly imprinted polymer nanoparticles in ELISA--development of a novel assay for vancomycin," *Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 85, pp. 8462-8, 2013.
- [125] K. Haupt, "Imprinted polymers-tailor-made mimics of antibodies and receptors," *Chemical communications (Cambridge, England)*, pp. 171-178, 2003.
- [126] A. P. F. Turner, "Biosensors: sense and sensibility," *Chemical Society reviews*, vol. 42, pp. 3184-96, 2013.
- [127] N. Karimian, *et al.*, "Electrochemical evaluation of troponin T imprinted polymer receptor," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 59, pp. 160-165, 2014.
- [128] X. Meng, *et al.*, "A molecularly imprinted electrochemical sensor based on multiwalled carbon nanotube-gold nanoparticle composites and chitosan for the detection of tyramine," *RSC Advances*, vol. 4, pp. 38649-38654, 2014.
- [129] P. S. Sharma, *et al.*, "Electrochemically synthesized polymers in molecular imprinting for chemical sensing," *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, vol. 402, pp. 3177-3204, 2012.
- [130] S. Viswanathan, *et al.*, "Molecular imprinted nanoelectrodes for ultrasensitive detection of ovarian cancer marker," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 33, pp. 179-183, 2012.
- [131] B. L. Li, et al., "A novel strategy for selective determination of dpenicillamine based on molecularly imprinted polypyrrole electrode via the electrochemical oxidation with ferrocyanide," Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical, vol. 186, pp. 96-102, 2013.
- [132] L. Özcan and Y. Şahin, "Determination of paracetamol-based on electropolymerized-molecularly imprinted polypyrrole modified pencil graphite electrode," *Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical,* vol. 127, pp. 362-369, 2007.
- [133] A. Turco, et al., "Electrochemical sensor for sulfadimethoxine based on molecularly imprinted polypyrrole: Study of imprinting parameters," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 63, pp. 240-247, 2015.
- [134] C. Baggiani, *et al.*, "Molecularly imprinted polymers for corticosteroids: Analysis of binding selectivity," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 26, pp. 590-595, 2010.
- [135] C. Baggiani, *et al.*, "Chromatographic characterization of a molecular imprinted polymer binding cortisol," *Talanta*, vol. 51, pp. 71-75, 2000.

- [136] O. Ramström, *et al.*, "Artificial antibodies to corticosteroids prepared by molecular imprinting," *Chemistry & biology*, vol. 3, pp. 471-477, 1996.
- [137] R. A. Lorenzo, *et al.*, "To remove or not to remove? The challenge of extracting the template to make the cavities available in Molecularly Imprinted Polymers (MIPs)," *International journal of molecular sciences*, vol. 12, pp. 4327-47, 2011.
- [138] M. Pandiaraj, et al., "A cost-effective volume miniaturized and microcontroller based cytochrome c assay," Sensors and Actuators A: *Physical*, vol. 220, pp. 290-297, 2014.
- [139] A. J. L. R. F. Bard, *Electrochemical Methods: Fundamentals and Applications:* Wiley; 2 edition, 2000.
- [140] I. A. Ionita, *et al.*, "Development of a sensitive and selective method for the quantitative analysis of cortisol, cortisone, prednisolone and prednisone in human plasma," *Journal of chromatography. B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences*, vol. 877, pp. 765-72, 2009.
- [141] S. Tunn, et al., "Multicentre evaluation of an enzyme-immunoassay for cortisol determination," Journal of clinical chemistry and clinical biochemistry. Zeitschrift für klinische Chemie und klinische Biochemie, vol. 28, pp. 929-35, 1990.
- [142] M. D. Krasowski, et al., "Cross-reactivity of steroid hormone immunoassays: clinical significance and two-dimensional molecular similarity prediction," BMC clinical pathology, vol. 14, pp. 33-33, 2014.
- [143] S. Piletsky, et al., "Custom synthesis of molecular imprinted polymers for biotechnological application," Analytica Chimica Acta, vol. 504, pp. 123-130, 2004.
- [144] Z. Iskierko, et al., "Extended-gate field-effect transistor (EG-FET) with molecularly imprinted polymer (MIP) film for selective inosine determination," *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, vol. 74, pp. 526-533, 2015/12/15/ 2015.

VITA

SYED KHALID PASHA

Born, Kurnool, India

2002-2005	Bachelor of Science(Hons.) Electronics University of Delhi New Delhi, India
2005-2008	Master of Science, Physics (Material Science) Jamia Millia Islamia New Delhi- India
2013- 2018	Doctoral Candidate Electrical and Computer Engineering Florida international University Miami, Florida

Publications, Presentations and Patents

- Syed Khalid Pasha, Ajeet Kaushik, Abhay Vasudev, Shedra Amy Snipes, and Shekhar Bhansali, "Electrochemical Immunosensing of Saliva Cortisol", J. Electrochem. Soc. 2014 161(2): B3077-B3082.
- 2. Syed Khalid Pasha, Pandiaraj Manickam, Hui Huanghan, and Shekhar Bhansali, "Nanomaterial Labels for Signal Amplification in Electrochemical Immunosensors", ECS Trans. 2017 77(11): 1859-1864.
- 3. Manickam, P., et al., A reusable electrochemical biosensor for monitoring of small molecules (cortisol) using molecularly imprinted polymers. Journal of the Electrochemical Society, 2017. 164(2): p. B54-B59.
- Singh, Aparajita, Syed Khalid Pasha, Pandiaraj Manickam, and Shekhar Bhansali. "Single-Domain Antibody Based Thermally Stable Electrochemical Immunosensor." Biosensors and Bioelectronics 83 (2016): 162-68.
- Kaushik, Ajeet, Abhay Vasudev, Sunil K. Arya, Syed Khalid Pasha, and Shekhar Bhansali. "Recent Advances in Cortisol Sensing Technologies for Point-of-Care Application." Biosensors and Bioelectronics 53 (2014): 499-512.
- 6. Misra, Veena, Bongmook Lee, Pandiaraj Manickam, Michael Lim, Syed Khalid Pasha, Steven Mills, and Shekhar Bhansali. "Ultra-Low Power Sensing

Platform for Personal Health and Personal Environmental Monitoring." Paper presented at the Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 2015 IEEE International, 2015.

- Babu, Vikash, Syed Khalid Pasha, Govind Gupta, CB Majumdar, and Bijan Choudhury. "Enzymatic Surface Modification of Polyacrylonitrile and Its Copolymers: Effects of Polymer Surface Area and Protein Adsorption." Fibers and Polymers 15, no. 1 (2014): 24-29.
- Kumar, Mukesh, and Syed Khalid Pasha. "Kinetically Controlled Growth of Gallium on Stepped Si (553) Surface." Applied Surface Science 283 (2013): 1071-75.
- Syed Khalid Pasha, Ahmed Hasnain Jalal, Aparajita Singh, Shekhar Bhansali, (August 2016). "Nanobiotechnology: An Abrupt Merger" In "Nanobiotechnology for Sensing Applications" Apple Academic Press – CRC Press, ISBN 9781771883283 Edited by Kaushik, A. K. and Dixit, C. K.
- Aparajita Singh, Syed Khalid Pasha, and Shekhar Bhansali, (August 2016).
 "Wearable Nano-Enabled Biosensors" in "Nanobiotechnology for Sensing Applications: From Lab to Field". Apple Academic Press-CRC Press, ISBN 9781771883283, Edited by Kaushik, A. K. and Dixit, C. K.
- 11. "LTCC for in-vivo biosensing application" by Syed Khalid Pasha, Abhay Vasudev and S Bhansali, IMAPS 2015, Orlando
- 12. "Comparison of Ag and AgOx Nanoparticles based Electrochemical Cortisol Immunosensors" by Syed Khalid Pasha, Rajesh Kumar and Shekhar Bhansali. NANOSMAT- USA 2014 at Houston, Texas, USA.
- 13. Bhansali, Shekhar, Aparajita Singh, and Syed Khalid Pasha. "Thermally Stable Electrochemical Sensor with Long Shelf-Life." Google Patents, 2017.